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ENERGY SAVINGS IS NOW JUST ENERGY!
 

When Energy Savings was founded in 1997, our name reflected an essential characteristic 

of our fixedprice offering. As we grew, a series of local brand identities helped facilitate 

entry into new markets. While this approach served us well, changes in our industry and our 

company have made this an excellent time to reconsider both our corporate identity 

and our value proposition. As a result, we are rebranding Energy Savings as Just Energy and 

moving forward with a single, consistent and distinctive brand identity across all markets. 

As an organization, one of our competitive advantages is our relative size, strength and 

stability. The change to a single identity will support future growth by allowing us to more 

easily communicate, to all stakeholders, our collective financial strength and the positive 

impact we’ve had on consumers across North America. 

The rebranding also enables us to clarify our evolving value proposition. Our increasing 

level of energy market expertise – combined with a continued commitment to fairness, 

integrity and customer service – has taken us beyond savings. Today, our focus is on 

providing both residential and commercial consumers with a straightforward, worryfree 

way of managing energy costs – one that provides price protection and the ability to 

budget more effectively as well as peace of mind. The name Just Energy and our new 

positioning statement “Energy Made Easy” embody this philosophy. 

Equally as important, our new logo reflects our increased focus on green energy and other 

environmentally friendly products and services. We aim to be a leader in this area and 

want to convey our commitment. 

The first step in our rebranding process was the renaming of Energy Savings Income Fund 

to Just Energy Income Fund. The next step is the conversion of our Canadian and U.S. 

operating subsidiaries. We expect to be operating as Just Energy in all markets by the 

fall of 2009. 

Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and electricity to residential, small to midsize commercial and small industrial customers 
under longterm, irrevocable fixedprice contracts (price protected for electricity). Just Energy offers natural gas in Manitoba, Quebec, 
British Columbia, Illinois and Indiana and both gas and electricity in Ontario, Alberta and New York as well as electricity only in Texas. By 
securing the price for natural gas or electricity under such contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers reduce or eliminate 
their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy also has environmentally friendly offerings of natural gas 
and electricity through its Green Energy Option program. 
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2009 HIGHLIGHTS
 

Customer base reached 1,790,000 residential customer 
equivalents, up 6% year over year. Gross additions were 

418,000, up 22% from 342,000 in fiscal 2008. 

_ 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) up 9% to $1.9 billion. 

_ 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) of $315.2 million, 
up 16% year over year. 

_ 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement of 
$195.5 million ($1.75 per unit), up 15% year over year. 

_ 

Earnings per unit of $1.52 in 2009, up from $1.44 in 2008. 

_ 

Announced accretive acquisition of Universal Energy Group. 

Sales Gross margin Distributable cash after Adjusted net income 
(seasonally adjusted) (seasonally adjusted) gross margin replacement per unit 
(millions) (millions) ( m i l l i o n s ) 

$315.2 $195.5 $1.52 

907.9 

1,225.9 

1,532.3 

$1,899.2 
1,738.7 

163.7 
188.6 

230.4 

272.2 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR
 

“This is the eighth consecutive year 
of record distributable cash and 

distributions to our Unitholders. 
We have done so in the midst 
of the greatest North American 

recession since the 1930s.” 

Rebecca MacDonald 

Executive Chair 

What we targeted for fiscal 2009 What we delivered in fiscal 2009 

Exit the year with 1,022,000 natural gas customers and Met 96% of our gas target and 99% of our electricity 
820,000 electricity customers target. Both targets would have been realized save for 

record foreclosures in our U.S. markets 

Grow gross margin by 10% Gross margin up 16% 

Grow distributable cash after margin replacement by 10% Distributable cash after margin replacement up 15% 

Search out accretive acquisitions Acquired the accretive CEG Energy Options Inc. book from the 
SemCanada bankruptcy, and subsequent to yearend, agreed 
to acquire Universal Energy Group, another accretive acquisition 

Be a reliable growth and income vehicle on the TSX Generated a oneyear total return to Unitholders of +1.0%, 
while the TSX total return was 28.3%. Just Energy has 
never cut or missed a distribution 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 2 



DEAR FELLOW 
UNITHOLDERS: 
It is with pleasure that I report our annual 

results for the year ended March 31, 2009. 

This is the eighth consecutive year of 

record distributable cash and distributions 

to our Unitholders. We have done so in the 

midst of the greatest North American 

recession since the 1930s. We are 

justifiably proud of the consistency and 

reliability of our growth and profitability. 

Each year we set our aggressive targets 

and each year we reach them. With our 

sales approaching $2 billion, doubledigit 

growth becomes more and more difficult. 

As in past years, we found a way to 

achieve this target. 

Fiscal 2009 was a year of great success 

for Just Energy. In his letter, Ken Hartwick, 

our Chief Executive Officer and President, 

discusses our results and how they were 

achieved. I want to thank Ken and his 

team for a job well done. 

Challenges we faced in fiscal 2009 
and our responses 

It will come as no surprise to anyone that 

the major challenge of the past year has 

been the impact of the recession on the 

North American economy. Poor economic 

conditions are not entirely negative for 

Just Energy. A high level of unemployment 

broadens the size and quality of available 

agents. Economic uncertainty forces 

families and small businesses to focus on 

the importance of budgeting. This improves 

receptivity to our product offerings. 

The number of home foreclosures, 

particularly in our U.S. markets, highlights 

the negative impact of the recession on 

our business. This, combined with the loss 

of customers who could no longer pay 

their utility bills, led to U.S. natural gas 

attrition rates of 30% far above our target 

level of 20% per year. 

Our efforts to cope with this customer 

loss began a year ago. After two quarters 

of very weak customer aggregation, 

we overhauled our sales and marketing 

department and refocused on the addition 

“Each year we set our aggressive 
targets and each year we reach them.” 

of quality customers. The result has been 

a growing sales force and higher sales 

productivity highlighted by a 57% year 

over year increase in gross customer 

additions in the fourth quarter. Increasing 

customer additions during fiscal 2009 was 

the largest single factor in delivering on 

our profit targets despite the recession. 

Our second point of emphasis was credit. 

At a time when many customers are 

having difficulty paying bills, it is important 

that Just Energy ensures that customers 

signed have adequate credit quality. As 

the recession approached, our finance 

department tightened our credit policies 

and carefully managed our receivables. 

The result was a bad debt expense of 2.6% 

for the year, which was near the midpoint 

of our 2–3% target. 

Finally, we had to carefully manage the 

matching of our supply book. As excess gas 

supply was created by higher than expected 

attrition, we were able to redeploy the 

supply to markets experiencing colder than 

expected weather. The result was minimal 

losses on sale of excess supply and the 

realization of higher than target margins on 

the remaining customer base. 

Growth through acquisition 

The year saw the completion of one 

small acquisition, the purchase of 

46,000 residential customer equivalents 

(“RCEs”) from SemCanada for $1.8 million. 

These customers were immediately 

accretive and, while currently low margin, 

provide an opportunity for renewals at 

Just Energy margins as they reach expiry. 

The Universal Energy Group (“UEG”) 

acquisition, announced on April 22, 2009, 

is going to be a major step forward. The 

deal requires the approval of 662⁄3% of the 

UEG shareholders at a June meeting, but 

with 51% of the shares under a lockup 

agreement, we are confident that the 

transaction will be approved. 

UEG brings more than 580,000 RCEs 

in Ontario, British Columbia, Michigan, 

California, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Maryland 

and New Jersey. In addition, UEG owns 

a 66.7% interest in Terra Grain Fuels, a 

Saskatchewan ethanol plant, which 

has a successful water heaterbased 

home services division. 

The transaction will be immediately 

accretive to our Unitholders after the 

realization of what we believe will be 

considerable administrative synergies 

coming from the overlap between the 

two businesses. We expect a smooth 

amalgamation of the two companies’ 

independent sales contractors. Positive 

results should be seen in the coming 

months as the companies come together 

to be the North American market leader. 

I look forward to meeting with my fellow 

Unitholders at our Annual Meeting on 

June 25, 2009, in Toronto. 

(signed) 

Rebecca MacDonald 

Executive Chair 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 3 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO
 

“We overdelivered on our 
targeted 10% growth, 
realizing 16% growth in 

gross margin and 15% 

growth in distributable 

cash after margin 

replacement.” 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer 

and President 

GEO sales growth 
(thousands) 

161 

710 In fiscal 2009, 30% of new 

19 
customers chose GEO supply 

08 09 08 

0 

09 
for an average of 70% of their 

Electricity (MWh) Natural gas (GJ) annual consumption. 
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DEAR FELLOW 
UNITHOLDERS: 
In Executive Chair Rebecca MacDonald’s 

letter, she discusses the challenges we 

faced in this difficult economy and how 

we achieved our targets in fiscal 2009. 

The operating results were strong across 

the board. We overdelivered on our 

targeted 10% growth, realizing 16% 

growth in gross margin and 15% growth 

in distributable cash after margin 

replacement. We once again exceeded 

our targeted margin per customer, locking 

in substantial Unitholder value for the 

coming five years. 

We added 418,000 new customers in 

the year, up 22% from the number added 

in fiscal 2008. This strong performance 

by our sales team allowed us to offset 

high attrition in the U.S. and show a net 

increase in our customer base of 6% 

for the year. 

We have built our team of independent 

sales contractors from 680 at the time of 

our last annual report to over 800 today. 

Amalgamation of the UEG sales force will 

increase this number further. The quality 

of our sales people has never been better, 

and recent weekly customer additions 

show that the strong upward trend of 

fiscal 2009 continues. 

As Unitholders, you have a right to expect 

stable distributions based on a prudent 

payout policy. Our payout ratio for the 

year was at an alltime low, and we 

improved our balance sheet, bringing our 

cash balance from $27.3 million to 

$59.1 million over the year. We not only 

continued to pay our $1.24 annual 

distribution but also topped this up with a 

$0.165 Special Distribution declared in 

December. While we were disappointed 

with our 1% increase in total return to 

Unitholders over the past 12 months, 

it was far better than the 28.3% loss in 

the TSX Composite Total Return Index 

for the same period. 

“Despite the recession, consumers’ 
minds are more and more focused on 
ways to sustain the environment.” 

Green products 

Despite the recession, consumers’ minds 

are more and more focused on ways to 

sustain the environment and reduce their 

carbon footprint. Over a year ago, we 

brought out our Green Energy Option 

(“GEO”) and have subsequently 

supplemented these electricity and gas 

offerings with high efficiency tankless 

water heaters and home energy audits. 

Our green products make up the 

fastestgrowing segment of our business. 

Our sales of green electricity grew 

from 19,000 MWh in fiscal 2008 

to 161,000 MWh this year. Sales of 

our GEO gas product grew from zero 

last year to 710,000 GJ in fiscal 2009. 

Demand continues to grow in all 

markets and it is clear that the GEO is 

going to be a high growth and profitable 

product for years to come. 

By yearend, we had installed 1,700 water 

heaters, and with the addition of UEG’s 

water heater business and sales force, we 

expect to grow this number exponentially 

in the coming year. 

Guidance for fiscal 2010 

It will be very difficult to top our fiscal 2009 

performance. Favourable weather, exchange 

rates and commodity prices allowed us to 

grow 15% while operating measures 

within our control were closer to 10%. 

Accordingly, we bring a high base into 

fiscal 2010. Assuming the UEG acquisition 

closes in early July, we would expect 

Just Energy to generate growth in gross 

margin and distributable cash after margin 

replacement in the range of 5–10%. 

The actual result will depend on the 

closing date, the time required to realize 

operating synergies and the ongoing status 

of the accompanying Terra Grain Fuels 

ethanol plant. Our view is that the 

acquisition will be accretive to distributable 

cash in fiscal 2010 and that it should be 

significantly accretive in future years once 

the operations are fully amalgamated. 

Similarly, the growth in our customer base 

will depend upon the eventual date of the 

merger of our two sales forces, but clearly 

the more than 580,000 RCEs that UEG 

brings will mean significant growth to 

our customer base in the coming year. 

The end of the current tax treatment for 

trusts is approaching in 2011, and 

Just Energy is fully prepared to proceed to 

an immediate conversion should market 

conditions or trading values make this 

necessary. While the income trust structure 

was ideally suited to a predictable growth 

business with limited capital expenditure 

requirements like ours, we can and will 

be successful in a corporate form. We 

have reviewed all the conversion options 

and will proceed when it is in the best 

interest of our Unitholders. 

Fiscal 2009 was a tremendous year for 

Just Energy. Prospects for 2010 and 

beyond remain extremely bright. 

(signed) 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer and President 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 5 



0

100

200

300

400

500

           

                   

             

           

             

             

           

             

             

SELECTION
 

U.S. customer base 
(thousands) 

469 

317 

189 

133 

49 

05 06 07 08 09 

Just Energy aims to be the leader in bringing innovative 

energy options to the market. Our original innovation 

was our core product, longterm, fixedpriced energy 

contracts. Responding to our customers’ needs, we have 

added our Green Energy Option, tailored solutions for 

businesses, and most recently, energy efficient home 

products and services. We provide the solutions people 

and businesses want, at prices they can afford. 

6 JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 



           

     

             

       

           

           

                 

           

     

         

         

         

           

           

             

     

           

             

           

                

           

           

         

           

         

             

             

             

               

 

         

           

       

         

           

           

             

           

             

      

   

       

         

       

         

 

           

         

       

           

       

       

         

       

           

           

         

 

         

       

         

       

               

         

           

           

                 

   

           

       

         

           

     

           

         

        

       

           

         

       

             

         

         

             

         

             

        

           

             

         

         

             

             

         

             

       

         

               

     

         

           

             

         

               

           

           

               

         

           

           

       

         

             

         

Delivering peace of mind 

We built our company on the strength of 

our core residential business. Consumers 

have long appreciated the peace of mind 

that comes with locking in their energy 

prices for up to five years – much like the 

stability and comfort provided by a long

term, fixedrate mortgage. 

We stay connected with our residential 

customers and constantly look for innovative 

new products that appeal to them. 

However, in recessionary times, it is the 

standard features of our core products that 

are most likely to strike a chord with 

prospective customers. Not surprisingly, 

predictable monthly bills and the ability to 

budget energy costs have proven to be more 

important than ever to homeowners as they 

work to stay on top of their finances. 

Fiscal 2009 saw a powerful and refocused 

marketing effort from the Just Energy sales 

and marketing team. We saw particular 

success in our U.S. marketing where we 

added 258,000 new customers, the most 

we have ever added south of the border. 

We project that the vast majority of our 

future growth will come from the U.S., so 

a trend of growing additions is vital to our 

longterm success. 

Overall, our gross additions were 418,000, 

an increase of 22% over fiscal 2008, 

reflecting our refocused marketing effort. 

Our net additions were 103,000 which 

showed that we were able to overcome 

the effects of record foreclosures and utility 

cutoffs in the U.S. driven by the worst 

recession seen in decades. Just Energy has 

shown the ability to grow in good times 

and in bad. 

Growing commercial offerings 

Just Energy’s commercial business is 

focused on select small and midsized 

businesses that appreciate the ability 

to budget easily and plan their future 

cash flow. 

Since our acquisition in Texas two years 

ago, we have pursued the commercial 

market more aggressively, recognizing it 

as an area in which there is tremendous 

opportunity for growth. Larger commercial 

customers have, regardless of their 

contract term, proven to have longer 

average lives than residential customers. 

These customers do not naturally fit with 

our core fiveyear fixed product but can 

generate significant profit from a more 

flexible offering. 

In fiscal 2009, we introduced greater 

flexibility in our commercial product 

offering in response to customer demand. 

We began offering shorterterm contracts 

of one and two years in select markets. We 

also developed products for the commercial 

and small industrial customers who like the 

concept of fixed prices but need options 

such as locking in most, but not all, of their 

energy consumption. 

Just Energy has created a specialized team 

to work with prospective commercial 

customers and tailor products to meet 

their unique needs. Our small and medium 

commercial customer additions in 2009 

more than doubled from 2008, and we 

expect continued expansion in all regions 

in the coming year. 

At the forefront of green 

Just Energy offers customers practical ways to 

reduce their impact on the environment. 

Our Green Energy Option (“GEO”) enables 

electricity customers to have all or a portion 

of their electricity sourced from renewable 

green sources such as wind, runoftheriver 

hydro or biomass. With the gas GEO product, 

customers can purchase carbon offset credits 

to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of 

their homes or businesses. 

In addition to GEO products, we have 

begun to lease and sell tankless and high 

efficiency hot water heaters in select 

regions. Tankless units save energy and 

reduce costs by heating water only when it 

is needed. We have also partnered with a 

licensed provider to give Canadians who 

rent or sell a tankless water heater a 

discounted energy evaluation audit. The 

audit provides access to a government 

grant and is the first step in increasing a 

home’s overall energy efficiency. 

GEO sales showed tremendous growth in 

fiscal 2009. Our electricity GEO sales were 

up 700% while we sold our new GEO gas 

product to more than 22,000 customers. 

Despite the fact that GEO was priced at a 

premium to our base fiveyear product, more 

than 30% of our new customers elected 

green supply for an average of 70% of their 

commodity requirements. This level of sales 

in a difficult economy is clear evidence that 

our customers are willing to make significant 

financial sacrifices toward a sustainable 

environment. Just Energy is well positioned 

to be a leader in the provision of green 

commodity supply as the economy recovers. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 7 



           

    

               

             

           

           

               

           

                 

     

SERVICE
 

Volatility 

$12 

$3 
05 06 07 08 09 

Alberta spot natural gas price 

In our business, topnotch service is just about as 

important to our customers as reliable energy and 

affordable prices – especially in recently deregulated 

markets, where skepticism may exist. We understand 

this fact, and invest heavily in people, processes and 

technologies to ensure that our customers understand 

what they are buying from Just Energy and feel good 

about their decision. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 8 



           

 

         

           

       

           

         

     

     

         

         

         

         

       

           

           

       

           

      

       

     

       

             

       

           

       

     

           

         

           

 

           

           

         

               

           

         

     

       

         

         

             

           

           

           

             

                 

         

       

         

       

     

           

         

     

       

         

     

       

       

      

 

           

           

         

         

           

               

       

             

       

         

       

         

         

     

           

         

         

         

           

           

           

             

           

             

         

       

               

             

             

             

         

           

Personal touch 

Exceptional service begins at the customer’s 

door, during the sales process. We fully 

support government initiatives to protect 

consumers, and we take great care to 

explain our products and answer questions 

in easytounderstand terms. The 

independent sales contractors carefully 

outline contract details in a conversation 

that normally takes about 15 minutes. 

After the sale, a customer service 

representative makes a verification call to 

reaffirm the accuracy and completeness 

of the sales presentation. Once the sale is 

verified, we work to ensure a smooth, 

troublefree transition from a customer’s 

existing supplier and to provide a reliable 

ongoing energy supply. 

Throughout the relationship, Just Energy 

customer service representatives are 

readily available to answer questions by 

telephone or email. We have a team of 

approximately 300 people who are 

supported by a full range of enabling 

technologies to ensure a consistent, 

personalized experience every time 

customers deal with us. Thanks to these 

efforts, customer service has always been 

an important part of Just Energy’s success. 

Talented people 

Just Energy employees are a source of 

pride for our company and the force 

behind our superior customer service. We 

aim to be a great place to work, where 

people enjoy what they do, develop their 

careers, and are recognized and rewarded 

for their contributions. 

Despite widespread layoffs at companies 

across North America, we have taken 

advantage of conditions to hire exceptional 

new talent. In fiscal 2009, we added top 

industry experts at our head office to 

manage the growth in our customer base. 

At yearend, our team of independent sales 

contractors had grown to 800, up from a 

low of just over 400 early in the year. 

We also maintained our commitment to 

training. New independent sales contractors 

receive extensive instruction on topics such 

as energy market trends, regulatory 

obligations, competitive positioning, and 

most importantly, how to develop and close 

sales in accordance with regulations in 

every jurisdiction. Similarly, customer service 

representatives are regularly trained on 

the things that can truly differentiate our 

service, including telephone etiquette, 

product knowledge, and understanding and 

addressing customer needs and concerns 

quickly and efficiently. 

Lifelong customers 

Our objective is to create lifelong customers 

who see the value and understand the 

peace of mind that comes with energy 

price protection. This means that we 

must work just as hard to keep existing 

customers as we do to sign new ones. 

Approximately onefifth of our customer 

book is up for renewal every year. The 

renewal process is initiated about 

15 months before a contract matures by 

letters, telephone calls and facetoface 

visits. Through these contacts, we remind 

customers of their contract, answer their 

questions and promote renewals. 

In fiscal 2009, we created a dedicated 

team to spearhead our renewal efforts. 

Their work involved targeting the clarity 

and salability of our renewal message. 

While we do not guarantee cost savings 

from our fixedrate products, some of the 

customers coming up for renewal had in 

fact saved money over the term of their 

contract and were more inclined to renew. 

At the same time, our renewal price is 

higher than the customer’s former fiveyear 

price reflecting commodity price movements 

over the contract term. It is vital that we 

are able to clearly explain why our product 

still protects against volatility just as it did 

five years earlier. We are confident that our 

renewal team has the resources necessary 

to bring this message to our customers. 
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STABILITY 

Stability 

16.7% 
15.7 15.4 15.1 

Just Energy is focused on providing stability and peace 

of mind – to both our customers and our investors. Year 

after year, we meet these commitments by delivering a 

reliable energy supply, paying stable distributions and 

growing our business at doubledigit rates. 

06 07 08 09 

Gross margin 
percentage 
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Dependable energy supply 

Customers count on Just Energy to meet 

their energy needs, day in and day out. In 

our 12 years of operation, we have never 

failed to deliver a single molecule of gas or 

electron of electricity. 

Our track record is a testament to our 

lowrisk business model which enables us 

to carefully match energy supply and 

demand, and lock in margins. At the 

beginning of each sales cycle, we purchase 

a fiveyear strip of commodity supply to 

match our expected marketing results. We 

then price our customer offering based on 

the known commodity price and the target 

margin. From there, the independent sales 

contractors go out and market until the 

supply is exhausted and the cycle begins 

again. Ongoing analysis of actual 

consumption patterns helps ensure that 

we always have enough contracted energy 

supply. Based on weather consumption 

variance, we go to the open market and 

make small purchases or sales of additional 

energy to maintain our matched position. 

Strong commodity supplier relationships 

further ensure supply reliability. Just Energy 

spreads its contracts across a number of 

different high credit quality suppliers. We 

have longstanding relationships with large, 

stable organizations such as Shell, Bruce 

Power and BP, market leaders in gas and 

electricity supply in North America. 

Stability 
$0.2681 

$0.101 0.103 0.103 0.103 

Apr/08 July Oct Jan/09 Mar 

Monthly distribution 
1Includes $0.165/unit Special Distribution 

Reliable investment 

Just Energy remains a predictable and 

reliable investment even in the midst of an 

economic downturn. 

It begins with a stable business, selling an 

essential product. No matter how deep the 

recession, people need the natural gas and 

electricity we sell, and utility bills are the 

last to go unpaid. A lowrisk business 

model, operational efficiency and superior 

customer service drive Just Energy’s 

consistently solid performance – as does 

our demonstrated ability to grow. 

In fiscal 2009, in the midst of a recession 

that challenged even the seemingly 

strongest companies, Just Energy showed 

the same growth it has since its inception. 

We grew our gross margin and distributable 

cash after margin replacement by 16% 

and 15%, respectively. This is the eighth 

consecutive year in which we have 

generated doubledigit growth in our 

key financial measures. As always, our 

Unitholders again received reliable 

monthly distributions. 

Since our initial public offering in 2001, 

Just Energy has raised the distribution 

rate 29 times. In 2009, we increased 

the distribution rate to $1.24 per unit 

and declared a Special Distribution of 

$0.165 per unit, reflecting strong 

profitability over the year. With lockedin 

margins on all our contracts, we remain 

confident in the sustainability of our 

distributions. And we take this commitment 

to our Unitholders seriously. 

Consistent growth 

Over the years, Just Energy’s consistent 

growth has been enhanced through 

strategic acquisitions. We maintain a solid 

financial profile, with limited debt, putting 

us in a strong position to acquire the right 

companies at the right time. 

In fiscal 2009, we purchased the western 

Canadian commercial and residential 

customer contracts of CEG Energy 

Options Inc., which was enmeshed in the 

SemCanada bankruptcy. The acquisition 

immediately added a commercial capability 

to our business in British Columbia. The 

CEG customers also fit the profile of the 

stable larger commercial customers we are 

targeting across our markets. While not 

large, the transaction was immediately 

accretive to our Unitholders. 

Subsequent to yearend, we signed a 

definitive agreement to acquire Universal 

Energy Group. Universal is a competitor in 

Ontario and British Columbia and adds more 

than 580,000 customers to our book. We 

believe that our combined entity will be a 

market leader in the provision of 

deregulated natural gas and electricity to 

customers across North America. Universal 

Energy Group comes with 14 U.S. state 

licenses and has customers in six states 

where we do not currently operate. With 

the addition of key members of the 

Universal Energy Group team, we expect to 

accelerate growth in these new markets. We 

also anticipate that the overlap in back office 

operations will ultimately lead to significant 

operating synergies. The transaction is 

expected to close in early July 2009. 
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YOUR FUND’S GOVERNANCE 

Officers (from left to right): Darren Pritchett, Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales; Ken Hartwick, Chief Executive Officer 

and President; Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair; Scott Gahn, Executive Vice President – U.S. Energy Savings; Beth Summers, 

Chief Financial Officer; and Gord Potter, Senior Vice President and General Counsel. 

As an income fund and as an energy price protection company, Just Energy is committed to providing stability and 

peace of mind. To reach these goals – and remain worthy of the confidence of our Unitholders – we have established 

an active Board to guide our operations and make sure that they are transparent to investors. Our corporate governance 

meets the recommended standards established by the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

We ensure transparency by clearly communicating our targets for growing our business, describing in detail how we intend to meet 

these goals and then reporting on our performance against the targets with equal clarity. Similarly, we build trust by ensuring that 

management’s interests are aligned with those of Unitholders. To make sure that management acts in the best interests of 

Unitholders, we mandate high unit ownership for all senior managers and align bonuses with strict performance measurements 

determined by our Board. Our unit compensation consists of fully paid unit appreciation rights, which are paid for by employees 

out of what would have been cash compensation. 

Your Board of Directors is made up of the Executive Chair and six outside directors and is monitored by our lead independent director, 

Hugh Segal. The Board committees are composed of external directors only. 

Additional details of our governance can be found in the Just Energy 2009 Management Information Circular. 
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OFFICERS 

Rebecca MacDonald 
Executive Chair 

Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of Just Energy (formerly 

Energy Savings) and has held the position of Chair of the Board 

and Executive Chair since the Fund’s initial public offering (“IPO”) 

in 2006. From the Fund’s IPO in 2001 to March 2005, 

Ms. MacDonald also held the position of Chief Executive Officer. 

Ken Hartwick, C.A. 
Chief Executive Officer and President 

Ken Hartwick joined the company in April 2004 as Chief Financial 

Officer, was promoted to President in 2006 and assumed the 

additional position of Chief Executive Officer in June 2008. Prior to 

this, Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial Officer of Hydro One Inc. 

Beth Summers, C.A. 
Chief Financial Officer 

Beth Summers joined Just Energy in February 2009 as 

Chief Financial Officer. Prior to this, Ms. Summers was Executive 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hydro One Inc. 

Scott Gahn 
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 

Scott Gahn was appointed to his current role in February 2009, 

and prior to this, since May 2007, held the position of Executive 

Vice President, U.S. Energy Savings. Prior to this, Mr. Gahn was 

Chief Executive Officer of Just Energy Texas LP. 

Darren Pritchett 
Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales 

Darren Pritchett joined Just Energy as Executive Vice President, 

Consumer Sales, in April 2008. Prior to this, Mr. Pritchett ran 

a successful direct marketing organization, contracted by 

Just Energy. 

Gord Potter 
Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal Affairs 

Gord Potter joined the Company in June 2003 and currently holds 

the position of Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal 

Affairs. Prior to this, Mr. Potter held the positions of Director, 

Vice President and Senior Vice President within the Regulatory 

department within the time period of June 2003 to April 2009. 

Before joining Just Energy, Mr. Potter was Director, Utility 

Relations, at Direct Energy Marketing Limited. 

OUTSIDE DIRECTORS 

The Honourable Hugh D. Segal 
Member of the Senate of Canada and Senior Fellow, 

School of Policy Studies, Queen’s University 

The Honourable Hugh Segal was appointed to the Senate of 

Canada in August 2005 and is a member of the Committees on 

Aboriginal Peoples, Agriculture and Forestry, and Foreign Affairs 

and International Trade. Mr. Segal served as President of the 

Institute for Research on Public Policy from July 1999 to May 2006. 

Mr. Segal was appointed Lead Director of the Fund’s Board of 

Directors in January 2005. 

John A. Brussa 
Partner, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP 

John Brussa is a Partner in the Calgarybased energy law firm of 

Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer, specializing in the area of energy 

and taxation. He is also a director of a number of energy and 

energyrelated corporations and income funds. 

The Honourable Gordon D. Giffin 
Senior Partner, McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP 

The Honourable Gordon Giffin is a Senior Partner in the
 

Washington, D.C. and Atlanta, Georgiabased law firm of
 

McKenna Long & Aldridge. From 1997 to April 2001,
 

Mr. Giffin served as United States Ambassador to Canada.
 

Ronald V. Joyce 
Corporate Director 

Ron Joyce was appointed to the Board of Directors in June 2008. 

Mr. Joyce is best known as the cofounder of TDL Group Ltd., 

which licences Tim Hortons restaurants in Canada and the 

United States. He is also the founder of the Tim Hortons 

Children’s Foundation. Mr. Joyce remains actively involved in his 

Hamiltonbased executive charterairline company, Jetport. 

The Honourable Michael J.L. Kirby 
Corporate Director 

The Honourable Michael Kirby is a corporate director. Mr. Kirby 

was a member of the Senate of Canada from 1984 to 2006. 

From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Kirby was Chair of the Standing 

Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. 

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry, Q.C. 
Counsel, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP 

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry currently serves as counsel 

to the national law firm of Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. 

From February 1996 until May 2007, Mr. McMurtry was the Chief 

Justice of Ontario. 

Brian R.D. Smith 
Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Consultant 

Brian Smith is the Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy 

Consultant, a position he has held since June 2001. Prior to this, 

Mr. Smith was the Chair of British Columbia Hydro, a position 

he held from 1996 to June 2001. 
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MD&A ATAGLANCE 

This MD&A ataglance highlights some of the more significant information found 
in the management’s discussion and analysis, which follows on page 17. It is not 
intended to provide a complete summary of Just Energy’s strategies, business 
environment or performance. 

HIGHLIGHTS 
•	 Achieved 16% growth in seasonally adjusted gross 
margin year over year, and a 15% increase in 
distributable cash after gross margin replacement, 
both exceeding our 10% growth targets 

•	 Added 418,000 new customers, up 22% from the 
number added in fiscal 2008 

•	 Adjusted net income per unit increased by 8% from 
$1.44/unit in fiscal 2008 to $1.52/unit 

•	 Acquired the accretive CEG book from the 
SemCanada bankruptcy, and subsequent to year
end, agreed to acquire Universal Energy Group, 
another accretive transaction 

•	 Sales of Green Energy Option (“GEO”) electricity 
products increased by 700% year over year to 
161,000 MWh delivered. GEO gas sales were off to 
a great start with 710,000 GJ delivered 

•	 Began providing Ontario residential customers with 
a longterm water heater rental program, offering 
tankless water heaters, high efficiency conventional 
and power vented tanks 

Customer aggregation 
April 1, Failed March 31, 
2008 Additions Attrition to renew 2009 

Natural gas 

Canada 761,000 95,000 (77,000) (36,000) 743,000 

United States 213,000 90,000 (68,000) – 235,000 

Total gas 974,000 185,000 (145,000) (36,000) 978,000 

Electricity 

Canada 609,000 65,000 (68,000) (28,000) 578,000 

United States 104,000 168,000 (30,000) (8,000) 234,000 

Total electricity 713,000 233,000 (98,000) (36,000) 812,000 

Combined 1,687,000 418,000 (243,000) (72,000) 1,790,000 

Gross customer additions for the year were 418,000, up 22% from the number added in fiscal 2008. Excluding the CEG acquisition, gross 

customer additions of 372,000 were up 9% from the previous year, as a result of opening new sales offices and improved recruiting 

success. Total net customer additions for the year were 103,000 in fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2008, net customer additions were 28,000. 

Annual gross	 Annual Customer margins 
margin per target 

During fiscal 2009, we continued to see the positive impact of customer1 Fiscal 2009 fiscal 2009 

efforts to maintain strong margin per customer during challenging 
Customers added in the year 

marketing periods. This table depicts the higher margins realized 
Canada – gas	 $ 166 $ 170 

on customers signed in the year: 
Canada – electricity 147 143 

United States – gas 208 170 

United States – electricity 206 143 

1Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad 
debt and U.S. working capital. 
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Just Energy intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the 
United States through both organic growth and focused acquisitions. The licenses 
and customer bases acquired with UEG will accelerate this expansion. 

Gross margin Distributable cash after gross 
(seasonally adjusted) margin/customer replacement 
(millions) ( m i l l i o n s ) 

$315.2 $195.5 

272.2 1 7 0 . 0 
1 5 2 . 8 

230.4 
1 3 0 . 0 

188.6 
1 0 2 .1 

163.7 

05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09 

Annual total gross margin per RCE for Distributable cash grew 15%, again
 
fiscal 2009 was $181, an increase of reaching a record level.
 
15% over last year ($157 per RCE).
 

Attrition rates 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

10% 

30 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

11% 

17 

Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, in line with 

management’s target of 10%. In the U.S., gas attrition was 30%, 

well above management’s annual target of 20%, due to record 

home foreclosures and utility shutoffs. 

Electricity attrition in Canada for the year was 11%, slightly 

above management’s 10% target. Electricity attrition in the U.S. 

was 17%, below the 20% target. 

Renewal rates 
In fiscal 2009, the only contracts eligible for renewal were Ontario, 

British Columbia and Manitoba gas customers and Ontario 

electricity customers. 

Renewals for Canadian gas customers were 73%, below the 80% 

target. The renewal rate for Ontario electricity customers was 

67%, exceeding management’s target. In the Ontario electricity 

market, there is no opportunity to renew a residential or small 

volume customer for a oneyear term should the customer fail to 

positively renew or terminate his or her contract. As a result, 

management targets a 60% renewal rate for electricity customers. 

Outlook 
Management’s best estimation is that Just Energy will again grow 

its key operating measures during fiscal 2010, despite weak North 

American economic conditions and continued turmoil in credit and 

financial markets. 

Gross margin and distributable cash after gross margin replacement 

per unit are expected to grow by approximately 5–10% during 

fiscal 2010, including the acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

(“UEG”). Distributable cash after marketing expenses is expected to 

grow at a slightly lower rate due to increased marketing expenses 

associated with forecasted volume additions and GEO product growth. 

Total residential customer equivalents (“RCEs”) are expected to 

grow after all attrition and failure to renew. However, 

management is not in a position to provide guidance on the level 

of customer growth pending acquisition of the UEG sales force 

and its integration into Just Energy. 

Just Energy intends to continue its geographic expansion into new 

markets in the United States through both organic growth and 

focused acquisitions. The licenses and customer bases acquired 

with UEG will accelerate this expansion. We are reviewing a 

number of further possible acquisitions, and continue to monitor 

the progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions. 

Changes made to the Income Tax Act require certain income 

trusts, including Just Energy, to pay taxes after 2010, similar to 

those paid by taxable Canadian corporations. We are analyzing 

potential restructuring options in preparation for conversion from 

a trust to a corporation on or before 2011. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (“MD&A”) 
May 13, 2009 

Overview 
The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Income Fund 

(“Just Energy” or the “Fund”), formerly known as Energy Savings Income Fund, following its name change effective June 1, 2009, 

for the year ended March 31, 2009, and has been prepared with all information available up to and including May 13, 2009. This 

analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2009. 

The financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles (“GAAP”). All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. Quarterly reports, the annual report and supplementary 

information can be found under “Investor relations” on our corporate website at www.justenergy.com. Additional information 

can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Just Energy is an openended, limitedpurpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to 

distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Ontario Energy Savings L.P. (“OESLP”), 

Energy Savings (Manitoba) L.P. (“ESMLP”), Energy Savings (Quebec) L.P. (“ESPQ”), ES (B.C.) Limited Partnership (“ESBC”), Alberta 

Energy Savings L.P. (“AESLP”), Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“JE Illinois”), New York Energy Savings Corp. (“NYESC”), Just Energy 

Indiana (“JE Indiana”), Just Energy Texas L.P. (“JE Texas”) and Newten Home Comfort L.P. (“NHCLP”). 

Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm 

fixedprice and priceprotected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixedprice or priceprotected 

program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these 

essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference 

between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the 

associated volumes from its suppliers. A new partnership was entered into on July 18, 2008, which involves the marketing, leasing, 

sale and installation of tankless and high efficiency water heaters. 

Forwardlooking information 
This MD&A contains certain forwardlooking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption 

levels, distributable cash and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations 

that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ from those anticipated. These risks 

include, but are not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, rates of customer additions and renewals, 

customer attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory authorities 

and competition and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect the 

Fund’s operations, financial results or distribution levels are included in the Fund’s annual information form and other reports on file 

with Canadian security regulatory authorities which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergy.com or through 

the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

Practice change 
Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund changed its practice from treating future supply hedging positions as hedges for accounting 

purposes: all mark to market adjustments are now reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. In the view of 

management, the previous practice offered no greater clarity for the financial statement user and was very labour intensive and 

costly to produce. The new accounting practice consolidates all the unrealized, noncash changes in value of future supply into a 

single line on the consolidated statements of operations. The Fund’s MD&A reports the adjusted net income excluding all noncash 

mark to market adjustments for all derivative instruments and the related tax effect. The expected future net margin from the supply 

and customer contracts is set based on the derivative instruments and is effectively unchanged with commodity market movements. 

Given commodity price volatility and the size of the Fund, the annual swings in mark to market on these positions can be in the 

hundreds of millions of dollars. 

Just Energy believes that the result of this accounting change and the associated MD&A disclosure is that actual period operating 

results will be more transparent for investors. 
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Key terms 
“LDC” means a local distribution company, the natural gas or electricity distributor for a regulatory or governmentally defined 

geographic area. 

“RCE” means residential customer equivalent or the “customer”, which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as 

regards natural gas, 2,815 m3 (or 106 GJs or 1,000 Therms or 1,025 CCFs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 

10 MWh (or 10,000 kWh) of electricity on an annual basis, which represents the approximate amount of gas and electricity, respectively, 

used by a typical household in Ontario. 

“Attrition” means customers whose contracts were terminated primarily due to relocation or death, or cancelled by Just Energy due 

to delinquent accounts. 

“Failed to renew” means customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term. 

“Delivered volume” represents the actual volume of gas and electricity provided on behalf of customers to the LDCs for the period. 

“Annualized volume/Customers” represents the utility projection of the total volume of gas and/or electricity to be delivered for each 

12month period for customers in place at a point in time. The period growth in annualized volume equates to the growth in 

Just Energy’s customers for the same period. 

“Gross margin per RCE” represents the gross margin realized on Just Energy’s customer base, including both low margin customers 

acquired through various acquisitions and gains/losses from sales of excess commodity supply. 

NonGAAP financial measures 
All nonGAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be 

comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and seasonally adjusted gross margin 
Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund’s results and the amount available for distribution is to focus on 

amounts actually received (“seasonally adjusted”) because this figure provides the margin earned on actual customer consumption. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin are not defined performance measures under Canadian GAAP. Seasonally adjusted 

analysis applies solely to the Canadian gas market and specifically to Ontario, Quebec and Manitoba. In those markets, Just Energy 

is paid based on deliveries made to the LDCs evenly throughout the year. The seasonal adjustment is made to more closely align the 

gross margin to reflect cash received during the period. 

No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as the supply is balanced daily. In the other gas markets, payments for supply by 

the LDCs are aligned with customer consumption. 

Cash Available for Distribution 
“Distributable cash after marketing expense” refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders. Seasonally adjusted 

gross margin is the principal contributor to Cash Available for Distribution. Distributable cash is calculated by the Fund as seasonally 

adjusted gross margin, adjusted for cash items including general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses, capital tax, bad 

debt expense, interest expense, corporate taxes and other adjustments. This nonGAAP measure may not be comparable to other 

income funds. 

“Distributable cash after gross margin replacement” represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to Unitholders as defined above. 

However, only the marketing expenses associated with maintaining the Fund’s gross margin at a stable level equal to that in place at the 

beginning of the year are deducted. Management believes that this is more representative of the ongoing operating performance of the 

Fund because it includes all expenditures necessary for the retention of existing customers and the addition of new margin to replace 

those of customers that have not been renewed. This nonGAAP measure may not be comparable to other income funds. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities please refer to the “Cash Available for Distribution and distributions” analysis on 

page 21. 

Adjusted net income 
“Adjusted net income” represents the net income (loss) removing the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from derivative 

financial instruments on our future supply. Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixedprice 

supply contracts. In accordance with GAAP, the associated customer contracts are not marked to market, but there is a requirement 

to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains (losses) depending upon current supply pricing volatility. 
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Management believes that these shortterm mark to market noncash gains (losses) do not impact the longterm financial performance 

of the Fund. The related future supply has been sold under longterm customer contracts at fixed prices; therefore the annual 

movement in the theoretical value of this future supply is not an appropriate measure of current or future operating performance. 

Standardized Distributable Cash 
Standardized Distributable Cash is a nonGAAP measure developed to provide a consistent and comparable measurement of 

distributable cash across entities. 

“Standardized Distributable Cash” is defined as cash flows from operating activities, as reported in accordance with GAAP, less an 

adjustment for total capital expenditures as reported in accordance with GAAP and restrictions on distributions arising from 

compliance with financial covenants restrictive at the date of the calculation of Standardized Distributable Cash. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities please refer to the “Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for 

Distribution” analysis on page 23. 

Financial highlights 
For the years ended March 31
 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts)
 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 

Per Per Per 
$ unit Change $ unit Change $ unit 

Sales 1,899,213 $ 17.03 9% 1,738,690 $ 16.04 13% 1,532,317 $ 14.28 

Net income (loss)1 (1,107,473) $ (9.93) 152,761 $ 1.41 93,912 $ 0.88 

Adjusted net income2 169,929 $ 1.52 8% 156,722 $ 1.44 54% 101,882 $ 0.95 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 315,193 $ 2.83 16% 272,180 $ 2.51 18% 230,368 $ 2.15 

Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 195,520 $ 1.75 15% 169,997 $ 1.57 11% 152,788 $ 1.42 

After marketing expense 169,353 $ 1.52 11% 152,834 $ 1.41 18% 129,984 $ 1.21 

Distributions 

(including Special Distribution3) 156,604 $ 1.40 (10)% 173,531 $ 1.60 60% 108,652 $ 1.01 

Distributions 

(excluding Special Distribution) 138,030 $ 1.24 7% 128,840 $ 1.19 19% 108,652 $ 1.01 

General and administrative 59,586 $ 0.53 15% 51,638 $ 0.48 23% 41,892 $ 0.39 

Distributable cash payout ratio3 

(including Special Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 80% 102% 71% 

After marketing expense 92% 114% 84% 

Distributable cash payout ratio4 

(excluding Special Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 71% 76% 71% 

After marketing expense 82% 84% 84% 

1 Net income (loss) includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses) which represents the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover 
future customer demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices greatly diminishing the realization of yearend mark to market gains 
and losses. 

2 Adjusted net income is a more appropriate measure of the performance of the Fund since the underlying supply is held to its maturity, and therefore, 
mark to market gains and losses do not impact the longterm financial performance of the Fund. 

3 In calendar 2008 and 2007, the Fund underdistributed its taxable income and the Board of Directors of OESC concluded that a Special Distribution 
would be paid to ensure that all taxable income would be distributed. Refer to “Special Distribution” on page 35 for further information. 

4 Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing expenses, excluding the Special Distribution, of less than 100%. 

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to adjusted net income 
Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 

Net income (loss) $ (1,107,473) $ 152,761 $ 93,912 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 1,336,976 831 7,619 

Tax impact on change in fair value of derivative instruments (59,574) 3,130 351 

Adjusted net income $ 169,929 $ 156,722 $ 101,882 
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Operations 
Gas 
In each of the markets in which Just Energy operates, it is required to deliver gas to the LDCs for its customers throughout the year. 

Gas customers are charged a fixed price for the full term of their contract. Just Energy purchases gas supply in advance of 

marketing. The LDC provides historical customer usage to enable Just Energy to purchase an approximation of matched supply. 

Furthermore, in many markets, Just Energy mitigates exposure to customer usage by purchasing options that cover potential 

differences in customer consumption due to weather variations. The cost of this strategy is incorporated in the price to the 

customer. To the extent that balancing requirements are outside the options purchased, Just Energy bears the financial responsibility 

for fluctuations in customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. Excess supply is sold in the spot 

market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. In the case of greater than expected gas 

consumption, Just Energy must purchase the short supply at the market price, which may reduce or increase the customer gross 

margin typically realized. 

Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia 

In Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year. 

Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at 

a rate which is greater than delivery and in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy 

receives cash from the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is even throughout the year. 

Manitoba and Alberta 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore, the 

amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from 

customers and LDCs will be higher in the winter months. 

Alberta’s regulatory environment is different from the other Canadian provincial markets. In Alberta, Just Energy is required to 

invoice and receive payments directly from customers. Just Energy entered into an agreement with EPCOR Utilities Inc. (“EPCOR”) 

for the provision of billing and collection services in Alberta which was amended and extended in December 2008. Pursuant to the 

amended agreement, EPCOR will continue to provide billing and collection services for AESLP until November 30, 2011, with 

respect to AESLP’s existing customers. In the late summer of 2009, Just Energy intends to begin billing and collection services 

directly for all new customers signed and renewed customers. 

New York, Illinois and Indiana 

In New York, Illinois and Indiana, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption and storage requirements for 

each month. Therefore the amount of gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. 

Consequently, cash flow from the New York, Illinois and Indiana operations is greatest during the third and fourth (winter) quarters, 

as normally, cash is received from the LDCs in the same period as customer consumption. 

Electricity 
Ontario, Alberta, New York and Texas 

Just Energy does not bear the risk for variations in customer consumption in any of the electricity markets in which it operates other 

than the commercial customers acquired in Texas. In Ontario and New York, Just Energy provides customers with price protection 

for the majority of their electricity requirements. The customers experience either a small balancing charge or credit on each bill due 

to fluctuations in prices applicable to their volume requirements not covered by a fixed price. In Alberta, Just Energy offers a load

following product for which it has acquired loadfollowing supply and therefore does not have exposure to variances in customer 

consumption. Effectively all future offerings for Texas customers will be a load balanced product, and Just Energy will not bear the 

risk for variations in customer consumption. 

Cash flow from electricity operations is greatest during the second and fourth quarters (summer and winter), as electricity 

consumption is typically highest during these periods. 

Water heaters 
NHCLP (“Newten”) commenced providing Ontario residential customers with a longterm water heater rental program in the 

summer of 2008, offering tankless water heaters, high efficiency conventional and power vented tanks. Newten continues to ramp 

up its operations and as at March 31, 2009, had installed over 1,700 water heaters in residential homes and has commenced 

earning revenue from its installed base of customers. 
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Cash Available for Distribution and distributions 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 

Per unit Per unit Per unit 

Reconciliation to statements 
of cash flow 

Cash inflow from operations 
Add: 
Increase (decrease) in noncash 
working capital 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A 
preference shareholders 

$ 172,767 

(6,181) 

2,767 

$ 136,007 

11,879 

4,948 

$ 98,354 

28,311 

3,319 

Cash Available for Distribution $ 169,353 $ 152,834 $ 129,984 

Cash Available for Distribution 
Gross margin per financial statements 

Adjustments required to reflect 
net cash receipts from gas sales 

$ 322,816 

(7,623) 

$ 2.90 $ 274,800 

(2,620) 

$ 2.53 $ 229,444 

924 

$ 2.14 

Seasonally adjusted gross margin $ 315,193 $ 2.83 $ 272,180 $ 2.51 $ 230,368 $ 2.15 

Less:
 
General and administrative (59,586) (51,638) (41,892)
 
Capital tax expense (220) (827) (850)
 
Bad debt expense (13,887) (6,951) (10,882)
 
Income tax recovery (expense) (3,861) 757 (539)
 
Interest expense (3,857) (5,346) (3,942)
 
Other items 3,664 780 690
 

(77,747) (63,225) (57,415) 

Distributable cash before 
marketing expenses 237,446 $ 2.13 208,955 $ 1.93 172,953 $ 1.61 

Marketing expenses to maintain 
gross margin (41,926) (38,958) (20,165) 
Distributable cash after gross 
margin replacement 195,520 $ 1.75 169,997 $ 1.57 152,788 $ 1.42 

Marketing expenses to add new 
gross margin (26,167) (17,163) (22,804) 

Cash Available for Distribution $ 169,353 $ 1.52 $ 152,834 $ 1.41 $ 129,984 $ 1.21 

Distributions 
(includes Special Distribution) 

Unitholder distributions $ 147,399 $ 158,511 $ 99,036 
Class A preference share distributions 7,660 13,699 9,188 
Unit appreciation rights and 
deferred unit grants distributions 1,545 1,321 428 

Total distributions $ 156,604 $ 1.40 $ 173,531 $ 1.60 $ 108,652 $ 1.01 

Distributions 
(excludes Special Distribution) 

Unitholder distributions $ 129,872 $ 117,720 $ 99,036 
Class A preference share distributions 6,791 10,130 9,188 
Unit appreciation rights and 
deferred unit grants distributions 1,367 990 428 

Total distributions $ 138,030 $ 1.24 $ 128,840 $ 1.19 $ 108,652 $ 1.01 

Diluted average number of 
units outstanding 111.5m 108.4m 107.3m 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 21 



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Distributable cash 
Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the current year was $195.5 million ($1.75 per unit), up 15% from 

$170.0 million ($1.57 per unit) in fiscal 2008. The growth reflects a 16% increase in seasonally adjusted gross margin. Factors which 

aided margin growth included net customer additions, increased consumption due to the cold winter weather with lower supply 

costs to meet this demand and favourable U.S. exchange rates. 

The higher gross margins in the year were offset by increased general and administration costs and bad debt expenses. Increased 

general and administrative costs of 15%, over the prior comparable year, were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to 

support our current and future growth, U.S. exchange rate impact on U.S. dollar denominated costs, an increase in collection costs, 

full year rent for our new customer service call centre and legal fees with respect to business operations in the U.S. Bad debt 

expense increased in fiscal 2009 compared to 2008, due to the increased revenue in those markets where the Fund bears the credit 

risk and the weak economic conditions in the U.S. markets. In addition, during fiscal 2008, the Fund released excess bad debt 

reserve, reducing the comparable bad debt expense for the year. 

Just Energy spent $41.9 million in marketing expenses to maintain its current level of gross margin, which represents 62% of the 

total marketing expense for the year. A further $26.2 million was spent to increase future gross margin reflecting the 103,000 net 

RCE additions for fiscal 2009. Management’s estimate of the future contracted gross margin grew to $1,020.3 million, up from 

$915.3 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2009. 

Distributable cash after all marketing expenses amounted to $169.4 million ($1.52 per unit) for fiscal 2009, an increase of 11% 

from $152.8 million ($1.41 per unit) in the prior comparable year. The increase is due to the higher gross margin offset by increased 

expenditures noted above. The lower rate of increase for distributable cash was due to the higher marketing costs associated with 

the significant increase in net customer additions year over year. Excluding Special Distributions, the payout ratio after deduction of 

all marketing expenses for the current year was 82%, versus 84% in fiscal 2008. 

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to “Sales and gross margin – Seasonally adjusted” on 

page 25 and “General and administrative expenses”, “Marketing expenses”, “Bad debt expense” and “Interest expense” are 

further clarified on pages 33, 34 and 35. 

Discussion of distributions 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 

Cash flow from operations1 (A) 

Net income (loss) (B) 

Total distributions2 (C) 

Excess (shortfall) of cash flows from operating 

activities over distributions paid (A–C) 

Shortfall of net income (loss) 

over distributions paid (B–C) 

$ 172,767 

(1,107,473) 

156,604 

16,163 

(1,264,077) 

$ 136,007 

152,761 

173,531 

(37,524) 

(20,770) 

$ 98,354 

93,912 

108,652 

(10,298) 

(14,740) 

1 Includes noncash working capital balances. 

2 Includes a onetime Special Distribution of $18.6 million in fiscal 2009 and $44.7 million in fiscal 2008. 

Net income (loss) includes noncash gains and losses associated with the changes in the current market value of Just Energy’s 

derivative instruments. These instruments form part of the Fund’s requirement to purchase commodity according to estimated 

demand and, as such, changes in value do not impact the distribution policy or the longterm financial performance of the Fund. 

Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting and all gains and losses on derivative 

instruments have been recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

The change in fair value associated with these derivatives included in the net loss was $1.3 billion for the 12 months ended 

March 31, 2009. In fiscal 2008, Just Energy had elected to use hedge accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair 

value predominantly to other comprehensive income. The change in fair value for the year in fiscal 2008 was $76.9 million. 
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As can be seen in the table above, the Fund has, in the past, paid out distributions that were higher than both financial statement 

net income (loss) and operating cash flow. In the view of management, the nonGAAP measure, distributable cash, is an appropriate 

measure of the Fund’s ability to distribute funds, as the cost of carrying incremental working capital necessary for the growth of the 

business has been deducted in the distributable cash calculation. Further, investment in the addition of new customers intended to 

increase cash flow is expensed in the financial statements while the original customer base was capitalized. Management believes 

that the current level of distributions is sustainable in the foreseeable future. 

The timing differences between distributions and cash flow from operations created by the cost of carrying incremental working 

capital due to business seasonality and expansion are funded by the operating credit facility. 

Standardized Distributable Cash and Cash Available for Distribution 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2007 

Reconciliation to statements of cash flow 

Cash inflow from operations 

Capital expenditures1 

$ 172,767 

(6,345) 

$ 136,007 

(7,842) 

$ 98,354 

(3,726) 

Standardized Distributable Cash $ 166,422 $ 128,165 $ 94,628 

Adjustments to Standardized Distributable Cash 

Change in noncash working capital2 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders3 

Capital expenditures1 

$ (6,181) 

2,767 

6,345 

$ 11,879 

4,948 

7,842 

$ 28,311 

3,319 

3,726 

Cash Available for Distribution $ 169,353 $ 152,834 $ 129,984 

Standardized Distributable Cash – per unit basic 

Standardized Distributable Cash – per unit diluted 

Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash4 

(includes Special Distribution) 

Payout ratio based on Standardized Distributable Cash 

(excludes Special Distribution) 

1.51 

1.49 

94% 

83% 

1.19 

1.18 

135% 

100% 

0.89 

0.88 

115% 

115% 

1 Capital expenditures are funded out of the credit facility. 

2 Change in noncash working capital is excluded from the calculation of Cash Available for Distribution as the Fund currently has a $170.0 million credit facility 
which is available for use to fund working capital requirements. This eliminates the potential impact of timing distortions relating to the respective items. 

3 Payments to the holders of Class A preference shares are equivalent to distributions. The number of Class A preference shares outstanding is included 
in the denominator of any per unit calculation. 

4 The Special Distribution relating to 2008 and 2007 has increased the payout ratios for both comparable periods. Refer to “Special Distribution” on 
page 35 for further details. 

In accordance with the CICA July 2007 interpretive release “Standardized Distributable Cash in Income Trusts and other Flow

Through Entities”, the Fund has presented the distributable cash calculation to conform to this guidance. In summary, for the 

purposes of the Fund, Standardized Distributable Cash is defined as the periodic cash flows from operating activities, including the 

effects of changes in noncash working capital less total capital expenditures as reported in the GAAP financial statements. 

Financing strategy 
The Bank of Nova Scotia joined the lending syndicate on October 17, 2008, with funding totalling $20.0 million increasing the Fund’s 

credit facility to $170.0 million. The credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Fund’s shortterm working capital and capital 

expenditure requirements. Working capital requirements can vary widely due to seasonal fluctuations and planned U.S.related 

growth. In the long term, the Fund may be required to access the equity or debt markets in order to fund significant acquisitions. 
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Productive capacity 
Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm, 

fixedprice contracts. As such, the Fund’s productive capacity is determined by the gross margin earned from the contract price and 

the related supply cost. 

The productive capacity of Just Energy is achieved through the retention of existing customers and the addition of new customers to 

replace those that have not been renewed. The productive capacity also is maintained through independent contractors, call centre 

renewal efforts and various mail campaigns to achieve customer growth. 

Effectively all of the marketing costs related to customer contracts are expensed immediately but fall into two categories. The 

first represents marketing expenses to maintain gross margin at preexisting levels and therefore maintain productive capacity. 

The second category is marketing expenditures to add new margin which therefore expands productive capacity. 

Financial statement analysis 
Sales and gross margin – Per financial statements 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

Sales Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas 

Electricity 

$ 814,275 

518,388 

$ 343,889 

222,661 

$ 1,158,164 

741,049 

$ 785,788 

544,278 

$ 247,463 

161,161 

$ 1,033,251 

705,439 

$ 1,332,663 $ 566,550 $ 1,899,213 $ 1,330,066 $ 408,624 $ 1,738,690 

Increase 0% 39% 9% 

Gross margin Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas 

Electricity 

$ 154,171 

77,549 

$ 64,118 

26,978 

$ 218,289 

104,527 

$ 140,443 

79,804 

$ 38,149 

16,404 

$ 178,592 

96,208 

$ 231,720 $ 91,096 $ 322,816 $ 220,247 $ 54,553 $ 274,800 

Increase 5% 67% 17% 

Canada 

Sales amounted to $1.3 billion for the year, effectively unchanged from the same period in fiscal 2008. Gross margin was 

$231.7 million for fiscal 2009, up 5% from $220.2 million in the prior comparable year. 

United States 

Sales and gross margin in the U.S. were $566.6 million and $91.1 million for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, an increase 

of 39% and 67%, respectively, from the same period last year. 

For additional information, see “Sales and gross margin – Seasonally adjusted” on page 25. 
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Seasonally adjusted analysis 
Sales and gross margin – Seasonally adjusted1 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

Sales Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas $ 814,275 $ 343,889 $ 1,158,164 $ 785,788 $ 247,463 $ 1,033,251 

Adjustments1 (10,480) – (10,480) (8,085) – (8,085) 

$ 803,795 $ 343,889 $ 1,147,684 $ 777,703 $ 247,463 $ 1,025,166 

Electricity 518,388 222,661 741,049 544,278 161,161 705,439 

$ 1,322,183 $ 566,550 $ 1,888,733 $ 1,321,981 $ 408,624 $ 1,730,605 

Increase 0% 39% 9% 

Gross margin Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas $ 154,171 $ 64,118 $ 218,289 $ 140,443 $ 38,149 $ 178,592 

Adjustments1 (7,623) – (7,623) (2,620) – (2,620) 

$ 146,548 $ 64,118 $ 210,666 $ 137,823 $ 38,149 $ 175,972 

Electricity 77,549 26,978 104,527 79,804 16,404 96,208 

$ 224,097 $ 91,096 $ 315,193 $ 217,627 $ 54,553 $ 272,180 

Increase 3% 67% 16% 

1 For Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec gas markets. 

Gross margin analysis 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas 

Customer margin $ 146,798 $ 70,881 $ 217,679 $ 143,649 $ 40,179 $ 183,828 

Loss from dispositions of excess 

supply and financial reconciliations1 (250) (6,763) (7,013) (5,826) (2,030) (7,856) 

Gas margin $ 146,548 $ 64,118 $ 210,666 $ 137,823 $ 38,149 $ 175,972 

Electricity 

Customer margin $ 78,417 $ 26,981 $ 105,398 $ 84,087 $ 16,607 $ 100,694 

Loss from dispositions of 

excess supply2 (868) (3) (871) (4,283) (203) (4,486) 

Electricity margin $ 77,549 $ 26,978 $ 104,527 $ 79,804 $ 16,404 $ 96,208 

Total $ 224,097 $ 91,096 $ 315,193 $ 217,627 $ 54,553 $ 272,180 

Increase 3% 67% 16% 

1 Results from variances in customer demand and associated gas reconciliations. 

2 Results from excess supply purchased in advance of customer usage or fluctuations in customer usage attributable to remaining customers on load
following contracts. 
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On a seasonally adjusted basis, sales increased by 9% to $1.9 billion as compared to $1.7 billion in fiscal 2008. Gross margins were 

$315.2 million in fiscal 2009, up 16% from the comparable prior year. 

Canada 
Seasonally adjusted sales were $1.3 billion for the year, effectively unchanged from fiscal 2008. Seasonally adjusted gross margins 

were $224.1 million in fiscal 2009, an increase of 3% from $217.6 million in the prior fiscal year. 

Gas 

Canadian gas sales increased by 3% to $803.8 million from $777.7 million in the prior comparable year. In fiscal 2009, total 

customer delivered volumes were down 3% due to a 2% decline in the customer base. However, despite the drop in the customer 

base, customer revenue grew by 3% due to an increase in the contract price for new customers signed compared to those 

customers lost through attrition. Gross margin totalled $146.5 million, up 6% from fiscal 2008 due to significant increases in the 

margin per customer and lower losses on sale of excess gas to third parties. Excess volumes sold during the year created a loss of 

$0.3 million in fiscal 2009 versus a loss of $5.8 million in the 12 months of fiscal 2008. 

After allowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, average gross margin per customer (“GM/RCE”) for the 12 months 

ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $210/RCE, compared to $193/RCE from the prior comparable year. The GM/RCE value 

includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

Electricity 

Electricity sales were $518.4 million for the year, a decrease of 5% from fiscal 2008. The reduced sales are attributable to a 9% 

decrease in total consumption partially attributable to a 5% decline in the number of customers, year over year. Gross margin 

decreased by only 3% from the prior year to $77.5 million as improved supply management processes and increased Green Energy 

Option (“GEO”) customers offset the decline in customer numbers and lower consumption. 

During the year, a small amount of excess volume was sold due to improved commodity management. The balancing losses for the 

year totalled $0.9 million, greatly reduced from a $4.3 million loss in the prior comparable year. 

Average gross margin per customer after all balancing and including acquisitions for the year ended March 31, 2009, in Canada 

amounted to $131/RCE, up 6% compared to $124/RCE from the prior comparable year. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate 

allowance for the bad debt expense in Alberta. 

United States 
Sales for the 12 months of fiscal 2009 were $566.6 million, an increase of 39% from $408.6 million in the prior year. Seasonally 

adjusted gross margin was $91.1 million, up 67% from $54.6 million in fiscal 2008. 

Gas 

Gas sales and gross margin in the U.S. for fiscal 2009 totalled $343.9 million and $64.1 million, respectively, versus $247.5 million 

and $38.1 million last year. The sales increase of 39% relates primarily to higher average prices, a 13% increase in customer 

consumption reflecting a 10% increase in customers and the impact of colder weather. Sales and margins also benefited from an 

increase in the U.S. dollar exchange rate. The U.S. gas gross margin increased by 68% during the 12 months ended March 31, 

2009. The increase in gross margin for the year resulted from increased customers and higher weatherrelated consumption offset 

by the sale of a regional long position resulting in the third party losses of $6.8 million. 

Average gross margin after all balancing costs for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, was $259/RCE, an increase of 48% over the 

prior year comparable period of $175/RCE. Strong customer consumption on an increased customer base as well as favourable 

exchange rates contributed to the increase. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad debt expense in Illinois. 
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Electricity 

Electricity sales and gross margin for the year were $222.7 million and $27.0 million, respectively, versus the prior comparable year 

of fiscal 2008 in which sales and gross margin amounted to $161.2 million and $16.4 million. Sales and gross margin increased by 

38% and 64%, respectively, due to an increase in customers and contract prices, favourable exchange rates and higher per 

customer consumption due to colder weather in New York. 

Average gross margin per customer for electricity during the current quarter increased by 30% to $133/RCE compared to $102/RCE 

in the prior year comparable period. U.S. electricity margins benefited from improved supply management and the strong U.S. 

dollar. The GM/RCE value for Texas includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense. 

Selected consolidated financial data 
(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and are expressed in Canadian 

dollars. The following table provides selected financial information for the last three fiscal years. 

Statements of Operations data 
For the years ended March 31 2009 2008 2007 

Sales per financial statements $ 1,899,213 $ 1,738,690 $ 1,532,317 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 315,193 272,180 230,368 

Net income (loss) (1,107,473) 152,761 93,912 

Adjusted net income 169,929 156,722 101,882 

Net income per unit – basic (10.03) 1.42 0.88 

Net income per unit – diluted (9.93) 1.41 0.88 

Adjusted net income per unit – basic 1.54 1.46 0.95 

Adjusted net income per unit – diluted 1.52 1.45 0.95 

Balance sheet data 
As at March 31 2009 2008 2007 

Total assets $ 535,755 $ 709,115 $ 357,227 

Longterm liabilities 480,602 246,248 19,509 
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2009 compared with 2008 
The increase in sales and gross margin is primarily a result of the increase in the customer base, mainly in Texas and New York and improved 

contract prices. In addition, on August 14, 2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer 

contracts (46,000 RCEs) of CEG Energy Options inc. (“CEG”) in British Columbia which contributed to Canadian sales and margin. 

The change in net income from a gain of $152.8 million to a loss of $1.1 billion relates primarily to the $1.3 billion loss representing 

the change in fair value of the derivative instruments. These instruments reflect the Fund’s requirement to purchase commodity 

according to estimated demand and, as such, changes in value do not impact the longterm financial performance of the Fund. 

Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting and all gains and losses on derivative 

instruments have been recorded in the “Change in fair value of derivative instruments” caption on the Statement of Operations. In 

fiscal 2008, Just Energy had elected to use hedge accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair value predominantly to 

other comprehensive income. 

Adjusted net income increased to $169.9 million in fiscal 2009 from $156.7 million last year. The increase is a result of improved 

gross margin figures, offset by increases in general and administrative costs, bad debt expenses and marketing expenses. General 

and administrative expenses increases were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to support our current and future growth, 

U.S. exchange rates, impact on U.S. dollar denominated costs, an increase in collection costs, full year rent for our new customer 

service call centre and legal fees with respect to business operations in the U.S. Bad debt costs increased primarily due to the large 

increase in total revenues for the year in the markets where Just Energy assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections. In 

addition, the increase in the U.S. exchange rate and higher default rates noted in the U.S. markets due to the recessionary 

conditions led to higher bad debt expense this fiscal year. During fiscal 2008, improved collection procedures had resulted in a 

significant excess reserve for bad debt, which was released in that fiscal year lowering the bad debt expense. Marketing costs were 

up due to the impact of the growth in customer additions, higher U.S. exchange on our U.S.based marketing costs and increased 

recruiting and corporate marketing overhead required to build our commercial sales team. 

Total assets decreased by 24% primarily as a result of the change in the other asset – long term. There has been a significant 

drop in the forward gas and power prices related to our derivative instruments noted above. As a result, there were far more 

commodity contracts with counterparties that would have resulted in a gain in the prior year, if sold on the open market. In fiscal 

2009, the situation is the opposite whereby there are far more contracts with counterparties that would result in a loss if sold on 

the open market. Therefore, the other asset – long term amount has decreased and the other liabilities – long term amount has 

increased. Longterm liabilities increased in fiscal 2009 primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative 

instruments explained above. 

2008 compared with 2007 
The increase in sales and gross margin is primarily a result of the increase in the average sales price and customer base. The Fund
 

acquired Just Energy Texas L.P. in Texas on May 24, 2007, which contributed to the sales increase. The Fund also had a full 12 months
 

of results from National Fuel Gas (“NFG”) in New York and Northern Indiana Public Service Company (“NIPSCO”) in Indiana which
 

were two new jurisdictions entered in 2007.
 

The increase in net income from $93.9 million to $152.8 million and in net income per unit is a result of an increase in gross margin
 

per customer as well as a decrease in bad debt expense, offset by increases in general and administrative costs, marketing expenses
 

and other expenses relating primarily to the change in market value of derivative financial instruments. Effective credit and collection
 

processes implemented during fiscal 2008 reduced the bad debt expense. In addition, collections from the winter billings of fiscal
 

2007 were higher than anticipated which resulted in a reduction in the associated reserve. General and administrative expenses
 

increased primarily as a result of the additional number of employees and infrastructure necessary to support the Fund’s expansion
 

into Texas. The increase in marketing expenses is due to higher overhead costs associated with opening additional offices and
 

additional recruiting expenses.
 

Adjusted net income increased by 54% from $101.9 million in fiscal 2007 to $156.7 million in fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2008 and 2007,
 

Just Energy had elected to use hedge accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair value of the Fund’s derivative instruments
 

predominantly to other comprehensive income. Therefore, the differences between adjusted net income and net income are not large
 

since most of the unrealized and realized gains and losses were not flowing through the consolidated statement of operations.
 

Total assets increased by 99% primarily as a result of the implementation of a new accounting standard for derivative financial
 

instruments. Just Energy was required to record other assets and liabilities representing the estimated fair value on a mark to market
 

basis of all derivative instruments effective fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2007, only certain derivative instruments were required to be fair
 

valued and recorded in the consolidated financial statements.
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Longterm liabilities increased in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the increase in other liabilities – long term as a result of the implementation 

of a new accounting standard for derivative financial instruments. In addition, there was a reclassification of the debt from current to 

long term on the change of the credit facility renewal period to three years from a previous annual renewal term. 

Summary of quarterly results 
(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts) 

Fiscal 2009 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Sales per financial statements $ 377,910 $ 294,122 $ 513,608 $ 713,573 $ 1,899,213 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 59,703 61,793 87,554 106,143 315,193 

General and administrative expense 13,447 13,236 14,753 18,150 59,586 

Net income (loss) 34,232 (923,990) (49,094) (168,621) (1,107,473) 

Net income (loss) per unit – basic 0.31 (8.33) (0.44) (1.57) (10.03) 

Net income (loss) per unit – diluted 0.31 (8.31) (0.44) (1.49) (9.93) 

Adjusted net income 27,631 6,872 46,682 88,744 169,929 

Adjusted net income per unit – basic 0.25 0.06 0.42 0.81 1.54 

Adjusted net income per unit – diluted 0.25 0.06 0.42 0.79 1.52 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin/customer replacement 31,046 34,755 57,475 72,244 195,520 

After marketing expense 30,282 28,394 48,162 62,515 169,353 

Payout ratio1 

After gross margin/customer replacement 108% 100% 93% 48% 80% 

After marketing expense 111% 122% 111% 56% 92% 

Fiscal 2008 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Sales per financial statements $ 352,869 $ 283,531 $ 449,673 $ 652,617 $ 1,738,690 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 55,309 57,664 71,247 87,960 272,180 

General and administrative expense 10,942 11,142 12,416 17,138 51,638 

Net income 25,918 4,754 28,064 94,025 152,761 

Net income per unit – basic 0.24 0.05 0.26 0.87 1.42 

Net income per unit – diluted 0.24 0.04 0.26 0.87 1.41 

Adjusted net income 25,777 8,393 34,890 87,663 156,722 

Adjusted net income per unit – basic 0.24 0.08 0.32 0.81 1.46 

Adjusted net income per unit – diluted 0.24 0.08 0.32 0.80 1.45 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 30,832 37,589 47,242 54,334 169,997 

After marketing expense 26,690 29,690 42,462 53,992 152,834 

Payout ratio1 

After gross margin replacement 99% 86% 164% 61% 102% 

After marketing expense 114% 109% 183% 61% 114% 

1 Includes a onetime Special Distribution of $18.6 million in fiscal 2009 and $44.7 million in fiscal 2008. 

The Fund’s results reflect seasonality as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While year 

over year quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will be higher 

distributable cash with a lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters and lower distributable cash with a higher payout ratio 

in the first and second quarters excluding any Special Distribution. 

Analysis of the fourth quarter 
Sales are typically higher in the third and fourth quarters because gas consumption is highest during the winter months and 

approximately 55% of the current customer base comprises gas customers. The 9% increase in sales compared to the prior 

comparable quarter is attributable to an increased customer base for the U.S., related consumption increases and favourable U.S. 

exchange rates during this time period. Adjusted net income which excludes the impact of the change in fair value of the Fund’s 

derivative instruments increased by 1% to $88.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2009. 
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Gross margin increased by 21% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 to $106.1 million from $88.0 million in the same period last 

year. Increased customer additions, change in the U.S. exchange rate and higher per customer consumption accounted for this 

increase. General and administration costs were $18.2 million for the quarter, an increase of 6% over $17.1 million last year. 

The distributable cash after customer gross margin replacement was $72.2 million, up 33% from $54.3 million in the prior 

comparable quarter. The increase in gross margin was due to an increased number of customers, favourable exchange rates and 

improved per unit margins quarter over quarter. 

After the deduction of all marketing expenses, distributable cash totalled $62.5 million, up 16% from $54.0 million in the fourth 

quarter of fiscal 2008. Distributions for the quarter were $34.9 million, an increase of 5% over the same period last year. The 

payout ratio for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 was 56% versus 61% for the same period last year. 

Customer volumes 
The expansion of the business outside Ontario makes, in the view of management, the continued sole use of RCEs as a customer 

measurement inappropriate. With continued focus on commercial, small industrial customers and new markets where customer 

usage is materially different from Ontario, the Fund believes showing straight volumetric measurement of the customer base (annual 

GJ for natural gas and annual MWh for electricity) will provide meaningful information for analysis. The Fund therefore reported 

volumetric measures for gas and electricity in Canada and the United States effective this fiscal year. Based on requests by external 

analysts and Unitholders, the Fund will continue to report RCE data going forward as well. 

There are two measures of volume which are being reported – “Annualized volumes/Customers” and “Delivered volumes in the 

year” in the following two tables on page 30 and 31. The first measure, “Annualized volumes/Customers” represents the utility 

projection of the total volume of gas or electricity to be delivered for each 12month period for customers in place at a point in 

time. This is the best measure of the relative success of customer aggregation efforts and the longterm expectations for profitability 

of the customers. The second measure is “Delivered volumes in the year”, which details the change in the actual growth of volumes 

delivered to customers for fiscal 2009 as compared to fiscal 2008. This measure tracks our actual financial results and reflects 

weather and other volume variances. 

Just Energy’s published targets for fiscal 2009 were to increase natural gas volumes by 5% and electricity volumes by 15%. 

Annualized volumes/Customers 
The following table identifies how the annualized volumes have changed from April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009: 

Annualized Annualized Annualized Annualized Annualized 
volume at volume volume volumes not volume as at % increase 

April 1, 2008 increase attrition renewed Mar. 31, 2009 (decrease) 

Natural gas (GJ) 

Canada 80,666,000 10,070,000 (8,162,000) (3,816,000) 78,758,000 (2)% 

United States 22,578,000 9,540,000 (7,208,000) – 24,910,000 10% 

Total gas 103,244,000 19,610,000 (15,370,000) (3,816,000) 103,668,000 0% 

Electricity (MWh) 

Canada 

United States 

6,090,000 

1,040,000 

650,000 

1,680,000 

(680,000) 

(300,000) 

(280,000) 

(80,000) 

5,780,000 

2,340,000 

(5)% 

125% 

Total electricity 7,130,000 2,330,000 (980,000) (360,000) 8,120,000 14% 

For the 12month period ended March 31, 2009, total gas customer numbers are flat as compared to last year which reflects 

customer additions above targeted levels in the U.S. offset by higher than expected attrition in Canada. U.S. gas annualized volume 

additions increased by 10% due to strong growth in New York and Indiana. 

Total electricity annualized volumes were up 14% for the fiscal year. All customer growth was in the United States with Canada 

lagging due to high relative fiveyear prices in Ontario. All electricity contracts entered into by the Province of Ontario since 

deregulation have been at prices far higher than the current regulated rate and management believes that, over time, regulated 

prices should move toward that of our fiveyear offering. U.S. electricity volumes were up 125% with strong growth in both 

New York and Texas. 
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RCE comparison 
In past periods, Just Energy has reported its customer volumes as RCEs. To allow continuity of comparison, the table below shows 

the growth of RCEs for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009. 

Customer aggregation 
Longterm customers 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Total gas 

April 1, 
2008 

761,000 

213,000 

974,000 

Additions 

95,000 

90,000 

185,000 

Attrition 

(77,000) 

(68,000) 

(145,000) 

Failed 
to renew 

(36,000) 

– 

(36,000) 

March 31, 
2009 

743,000 

235,000 

978,000 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

Total electricity 

609,000 

104,000 

713,000 

65,000 

168,000 

233,000 

(68,000) 

(30,000) 

(98,000) 

(28,000) 

(8,000) 

(36,000) 

578,000 

234,000 

812,000 

Combined 1,687,000 418,000 (243,000) (72,000) 1,790,000 

Gross customer additions for the year, excluding the CEG acquisition, were 372,000, up 9% from 342,000 in fiscal 2008. This was 

due to the opening of additional sales offices in fiscal 2009 and improved recruiting success. Total net customer additions for the 

year excluding acquisitions were 57,000 in fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2008 the net customer additions were 28,000. 

The fourth quarter saw a substantial increase in customer additions compared to the prior year. On an RCE basis, 85,000 gross 

customers were added in the quarter, up 57% from the fourth quarter additions of 54,000 in fiscal 2008. Net customer additions 

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 were 15,000 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 in which the Fund reported negative 

customer growth. 

Delivered volumes in the year 
The following table shows the actual delivered volumes for the current and prior comparable year. 

% increase 
For the years ended March 31 Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 (decrease) 

Natural gas (GJ) 

Canada 73,133,170 75,039,726 (3)% 

United States 23,433,805 20,707,436 13% 

Total gas1 96,566,975 95,747,162 1% 

Electricity (MWh) 

Canada 5,802,096 6,366,741 (9)% 

United States 1,729,086 667,540 159% 

Total electricity1 7,531,182 7,034,281 7% 

1 Includes 709,736 GJ of GEO gas and 160,953 MWh of GEO electricity delivered in fiscal 2009. 

Gas deliveries increased by 1% in the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, primarily due to colder weather conditions and increased 

U.S. customer base noted during the year. Electricity volumes increased by 7% over the prior comparable year due to strong 

customer additions in Texas and New York. 

Green Energy Option 
Sales of the GEO product continue to support and reaffirm the great demand for the GEO product in all markets. The GEO program 

allows customers to choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewable energy or carbon offsets, in an effort to 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual obligation for 

Just Energy to purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer’s purchase. A review was 

conducted by Grant Thornton LLP of Just Energy’s Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period 

from January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2008, validating the Fund’s purchases of renewable energy and carbon offsets. 
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Attrition 
Natural gas 
Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% for the year, in line with management’s target of 10%. In the U.S., gas attrition for the 

trailing 12 months was 30%, above management’s annual target of 20% but decreased from the 33% and 31% noted in the 

second and third quarters of fiscal 2009, respectively. Annualized attrition for the fourth quarter was 7% for Canada but increased 

to 34% for the United States. 

Electricity 
Electricity attrition in Canada for the year was 11%, slightly above management’s target of 10%. However, annualized attrition for 

the fourth quarter was 9%, below our internal target. Electricity attrition in the United States was 17% over the last 12 months, 

below management’s target of 20%. Annualized U.S. electricity attrition for the fourth quarter was 22%, slightly above target. 

Failed to renew 
The Just Energy renewal process is a multifaceted program and aims to maximize the number of customers who choose to sign a new 

contract prior to the end of his or her existing contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance of contract expiry allowing a 

customer to recontract for an additional four or five years. Presently, the only contracts under which the terms are completed, and 

therefore are eligible for renewal, are the Ontario, British Columbia and Manitoba gas and Ontario electricity customers. 

During the year, renewals for Canadian gas customers in Ontario, British Columbia and Manitoba were 73%. In the Ontario gas 

market, customers who do not positively elect to renew or terminate their contract receive a oneyear fixed price for the ensuing year. 

This renewal rate is a blend of oneyear and fiveyear contracts and 45% of the 75% of Ontario customers renewed were for a one

year term. 

In the Ontario electricity market, there is no opportunity to renew a residential or small volume customer for a oneyear term should 

the customer fail to positively renew or terminate his or her contract. Management targets a renewal rate for electricity customers 

of 60%. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, 67% of all expiring electricity customer volumes were successfully renewed. 

In fiscal 2010, management expects to have the following annualized attrition and renewal rates: 

Attrition Renewals 
fiscal 2010 fiscal 2010 

Natural gas 

Canada 10% 70% 

United States 20 5 

Electricity 

Canada 10% 65% 

United States 20 60 

Gas and electricity contract renewals 
This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in each of the following years: 

Canada Canada U.S. U.S. 
Fiscal period gas electricity gas electricity 

2010 25% 7% 11% 14% 

2011 25 22 15 8 

2012 21 22 13 12 

2013 15 30 30 15 

Beyond 2013 14 19 31 51 

Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its offering to existing customers in order to 

maximize the number of customers who renew their contracts. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 32 



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Gross margin earned through new marketing efforts 
Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers 
During fiscal 2009, the Fund continued to see the positive impact of continued efforts to maintain strong margin per customer
 

during challenging marketing periods. The table below depicts the higher margins realized on customers signed in the year.
 

Annual gross margin per customer1 

Annual target 
Fiscal 2009 fiscal 2009 

Customers added in the year 

Canada – gas $ 166 $ 170 

Canada – electricity 147 143 

United States – gas 208 170 

United States – electricity 206 143 

Customers lost in the year
 

Canada – gas 184
 

Canada – electricity 105
 

United States – gas 175
 

United States – electricity 102
 

1 Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 

General and administrative expenses 
General and administrative costs were $59.6 million for the year, representing a 15% increase from $51.6 million in fiscal 2008.
 

The increased expenses in fiscal 2009 were primarily staffing costs in our corporate office to support our current and future growth,
 

U.S. exchange rate impact on U.S. dollar denominated costs, an increase in collection costs, full year rent for our new customer 

service call centre and legal fees with respect to business operations in the U.S. Corporate headcount increased by 25 to a total of 

700 fulltime employees primarily to enable operations to prepare for the new Alberta customers to be billed internally, for sales 

support for our commercial expansion, and for customer service and IT to service our expanding customer base. Collection costs 

were up in fiscal 2009 reflecting outsourced costs related to the Texas residential market expansion to address increased collection 

activities. In addition, the call centre was operational for only five months of fiscal 2008 versus a full year this year. 
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Marketing expenses 
Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors for signing new customers as well as an 

allocation of corporate costs, were $68.1 million, an increase of 21% from $56.1 million for the 12month period of fiscal 2008. 

The largest single component of the increase was the impact of the higher U.S. dollar on our U.S.based marketing costs. The 

increase also reflects the growth in customer additions, offset by higher costs related to commissions, recruiting and corporate 

marketing overhead required to build our commercial sales team. During the current fiscal year, management undertook a sales and 

marketing reorganization to accelerate the customer additions. We are seeing the impact of this reorganization. Customers signed 

by our marketing sales force increased in fiscal 2009 to 372,000 compared to 342,000 additions in fiscal 2008, an increase of 9%. 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of gross margin lost from attrition as compared to the 

gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the fiscal year. Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin were 

$41.9 million, an increase of 8% from $39.0 million from fiscal 2008. 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin are allocated based on the ratio of net new gross margin earned on the customers 

signed, less attrition, as compared to the gross margin signed from new and renewed customers during the period. Marketing 

expenses to add new gross margin totalled $26.2 million, an increase of 52% from $17.2 million in the prior year comparable 

period. The large increase is consistent with the net customer additions of 57,000 in fiscal 2009 (excluding acquired customers) 

versus 28,000 net additions fiscal 2008. All marketing costs related to the GEO product offerings are allocated against new margin 

and there has been a significant increase in our GEO product in the current year. 

The actual aggregation costs per customer added compared to the fiscal 2009 target were as follows: 

Target 
Fiscal 2009 fiscal 2009 

Natural gas 

Canada $ 185/RCE 

United States 199/RCE 

Total gas 194/RCE $ 170/RCE 

Electricity 

Canada $ 181/RCE 

United States 146/RCE 

Total electricity 156/RCE $ 143/RCE 

Actual total aggregation costs for gas and electricity customers to date for fiscal 2009 were $194 per customer for gas and $156 

per customer for electricity. 

In Canada, gas and electricity aggregation costs were $185 and $181 per customer, respectively. Gas and electricity costs were 

above target due to lower than expected Canadian customer additions for the current year and therefore, higher corporate, 

marketing and customer service costs were allocated to each unit of volume. Approximately 40% of the total marketing expense 

relates to the costs associated with corporate, marketing and customer service overhead. 

In the U.S., gas aggregation costs and electricity aggregation costs were $199 and $146 per customer which is above target for 

the year. U.S. customer additions were above expectations but the cost per RCE was higher than our target reflecting the higher 

exchange rate noted during fiscal 2009. U.S. customers (the Fund’s highest growth market) were signed with a less than oneyear 

margin payback period. 

Unit based compensation 
Compensation in the form of units (noncash) granted by the Fund to the directors, officers, fulltime employees and service 

providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the 2001 unit option plan, the 2004 unit appreciation rights plan and the 

directors’ deferred compensation plan amounted to $4.1 million, an increase of 33% from the $3.1 million paid in fiscal 2008. The 

increased expense in fiscal 2009 is a result of the increase in the number of fully paid unit appreciation rights awarded to employees 

in fiscal 2009. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 34 



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Bad debt expense 
In Illinois, Alberta and Texas, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of all customer accounts. In addition, 

for large directbilled accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Credit review processes have been 

established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk into its margin expectations for all of 

the abovenoted markets. 

Bad debt expense for fiscal 2009 was $13.9 million versus $7.0 million expensed in the prior comparable year. The bad debt 

expense increase of 100% was partially due to the 20% increase in total revenues for the year in the markets where Just Energy 

assumes the risk for accounts receivable collections. The increase in the U.S. exchange rate and increased default rates noted in 

the U.S. markets are due to the recessionary conditions. Also, during fiscal 2008, improved collection procedures had resulted in 

a significant excess reserve for bad debt, which was released lowering the 2008 bad debt expense. Management integrates its 

default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval process to mitigate 

customer delinquency. 

For the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, the bad debt expense represents 2.6% of $543.5 million in revenues, near the midpoint 

of the Fund’s 2–3% target range. Higher credit losses should be expected with the current North American recession. Management 

continues to target bad debt expense of approximately 2–3% during fiscal 2010 and believes that the upper end of the range will 

be adequate even during a severe and extended recession. 

For each of Just Energy’s other markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from 

Just Energy’s customers for a regulated fee. 

Interest expense 
Total interest expense for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $3.9 million, a decrease from $5.3 million in fiscal 

2008. The decrease is due to reduced U.S. direct borrowing costs under the credit facility agreement. The U.S. line was completely 

repaid at the end of fiscal 2009. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement 

and as at March 31, 2009, all of these covenants were met. 

Foreign exchange 
Just Energy has an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S. operations, and any changes in the applicable exchange 

rate may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income (loss). For the year, a foreign exchange unrealized loss of 

$1.9 million was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus an unrealized gain of $4.0 million reported in the same period last 

year. In fiscal 2009, all monies earned in the U.S. were redeployed in the U.S. to fund continued growth. Overall, the high U.S. dollar 

increases sales and gross margin but this is partially offset by higher operating costs denominated in U.S. dollars. 

Class A preference share distributions 
The remaining holder of the Ontario Energy Savings Corp. (“OESC”) Class A preference shares (which are exchangeable into units 

on a 1:1 basis) is entitled to receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid or payable to a Unitholder on an 

equal number of units. The total amount paid for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, including tax and the Special Distribution 

amounted to $7.7 million versus $13.7 million paid in fiscal 2008. The decrease in the preference share distributions resulted from 

the exchange of 1,442,484 shares into units over the past year and a lower Special Distribution paid in fiscal 2009. These 

distributions on the Class A preference shares are reflected in the Statement of Unitholders’ Equity of the Fund’s consolidated 

financial statements, net of tax. 

Special Distribution 
The Fund underdistributed its taxable income in calendar 2008 and would have been subject to tax at 46% for any undistributed 

taxable income. In order to ensure all of the taxable income is distributed to its Unitholders, the Board of Directors of OESC, as 

attorney and administrator of the Fund, concluded that it would be preferable to pay out a Special Distribution to effectively allocate 

all of the taxable income to the Unitholders. The Special Distribution of $18.6 million ($0.165 per unit) was funded by operating 

cash flow and the Fund’s credit facility and was paid in cash on January 30, 2009. In fiscal 2008, a Special Distribution of 

$44.7 million ($0.41 per unit) was declared in the third quarter and included a combination of 50% cash and 50% units. 
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Normal course issuer bid 
During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Fund obtained approval from its Board of Directors to make a normal course issuer bid 

to purchase up to 9,000,000 units, for the 12month period commencing November 21, 2008, and ending November 20, 2009, 

with a maximum of 44,754 units that can be purchased during any trading day. In fiscal 2009, the Fund purchased and cancelled 

909,700 units for cash consideration of $6.6 million (an average price of $7.26 per unit). 

Recovery of income tax 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

Current income tax expense (recovery) $ 3,861 $ (757) 

Amount credited to Unitholders’ equity 2,767 4,948 

Future tax recovery (64,088) (18,692) 

Recovery of income tax $ (57,460) $ (14,501) 

The Fund recorded a current income tax expense of $3.9 million for the year versus a recovery of $0.8 million in the same period last 

year. The change is mainly attributable to state income taxes that our U.S. entities paid, Canadian income tax expense and a small 

portion of U.S. withholding tax remitted. Also included in the income tax provision is an amount relating to the tax impact of the 

distributions paid to the Class A preference shareholder of OESC. In accordance with EIC 151, “Exchangeable Securities Issued by 

Subsidiaries of Income Trusts”, all Class A preference shares are included as part of Unitholders’ equity and the distributions paid to 

the shareholder are included as distributions on the Statement of Unitholders’ equity, net of tax. For the year ended March 31, 

2009, the tax impact of these distributions, based on an estimated tax rate of 33%, amounted to $2.8 million as compared to 

$4.9 million in fiscal 2008. During the year, the Fund had significant temporary differences attributed to the mark to market losses 

from the financial derivatives. As a result, all of the future tax liability recorded during the year was offset by a portion of the mark 

to market losses. A future tax recovery of $64.1 million has been recorded for fiscal 2009. 

Effective January 1, 2011, the Fund will be taxed as a Canadian income Specified Investment FlowThrough (“SIFT”) trust that 

has not been subject to a Canadian corporate income tax in the Canadian operating entities. Therefore, the future tax asset or 

liability associated with Canadian assets recorded on the balance sheet as at that date will be realized over time as the temporary 

differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases are realized. 

Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued at that time to the extent that there is taxable income in the Fund or its underlying 

operating entities. 

The U.S.based corporate subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income determined under U.S. income tax 

rules and regulations. As the U.S. subsidiaries had combined operating losses for tax purposes at March 31, 2009, no provision for 

current U.S. income tax has been made by those U.S. entities. 

The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 

recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets 

and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates. 

A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income tax asset if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the 

foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is 

recognized in income during the period that the change occurs. 
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Liquidity and capital resources 
Summary of cash flows 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

Operating activities $ 172,767 $ 136,007 

Investing activities (8,187) (41,242) 

Financing activities, excluding distributions 2,330 58,033 

Gain on foreign exchange 2,691 707 

Increase in cash before distributions 169,601 153,505 

Distributions (cash payments) (137,817) (142,981) 

Increase in cash 31,784 10,524 

Cash – beginning of year 27,310 16,786 

Cash – end of year $ 59,094 $ 27,310 

Operating activities 

Cash flow from operating activities for the 12 months ended March 31, 2009, was $172.8 million, an increase from $136.0 million in 

the prior comparable year. The increase is primarily attributable to an increase in gross margin during fiscal 2009. 

Investing activities 

The Fund purchased capital assets totalling $6.3 million during the year, a decrease from $7.8 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2009, 

Just Energy’s capital spending related to the water heater business and purchases of office equipment and IT software. Last year, 

purchases were primarily for IT systems associated with customer service operations supporting the Fund’s expanding customer 

base. During the second quarter, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer contracts of 

CEG in British Columbia for $1.8 million. CEG was a western Canadian marketer of natural gas wholly owned by SemCanada 

Energy Company, both of which filed for creditor protection under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act on July 30, 2008. 

The customer contracts had annualized volumes of approximately 4.9 million GJ or 46,000 RCEs. The remaining term of the 

contracts at the time of acquisition was estimated to be 20 months. In fiscal 2008, the fund completed the acquisition of 

Just Energy Texas L.P., including all of its electricity contracts for a total, net of cash, of $33.4 million, of which $18.1 million 

involved the issuance of units of the Fund. 

Financing activities 

Financing activities excluding distributions relate primarily to an increase of the operating line for working capital requirements. 

During the current year, Just Energy had drawn a total of $87.7 million against the credit facility versus $97.3 million drawn last 

year. As Just Energy continues to expand in the U.S. markets, the need to fund working capital and security requirements will 

increase, driven primarily by the number of customers aggregated and to a lesser extent by the number of new markets. Based on 

the markets in which Just Energy currently operates and others that management expects to enter, funding requirements will be 

supported through the credit facility. 

The Fund’s liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract is signed until cash flow is generated. 

Approximately 50% of an independent sales contractor’s commission payment is made following reaffirmation or verbal verification of 

the customer contract with most of the remaining 50% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the customer. 

The elapsed period between the times when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies 

with each market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by 

the various LDCs to enroll, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta and Texas, 

Just Energy receives payment directly from the customer. 

Distributions (cash payments) 

Investors should note that due to the institution of a distribution reinvestment program (“DRIP”) on December 20, 2007, a portion 

of distributions declared is not paid in cash. This program was suspended on December 1, 2008, with the commencement of the 

normal course issuer bid and was reinstituted on March 31, 2009. Under the program, Unitholders can elect to receive their 

distributions in units at a 2% (formally 5%) discount to the prevailing market price rather than the cash equivalent. During the year, 

the Fund made cash distributions to its Unitholders and Class A preference shareholder in the amount of $137.8 million, compared 

to $143.0 million in fiscal 2008. 
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Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into new markets, growth in its existing customer base, 

acquisitions like the CEG customers as well as distributions to its Unitholders. 

At the end of the year, the annual rate for distributions per unit was $1.24. The Fund intends to make distributions to its 

Unitholders, based upon cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs 

and expenses of the Fund. The Fund’s intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at 

the end of the month. 

In both fiscal 2009 and 2008, a Special Distribution was made to ensure that the Fund distributed all of its taxable income. See 

“Special Distribution” on page 35 for additional information. 

Balance sheet as at March 31, 2009, compared to March 31, 2008 
Cash increased from $27.3 million as at March 31, 2008, to $59.1 million. The utilization of the credit facility increased from 

$67.6 million to $76.5 million as a result of normal injection of gas into storage and various other working capital requirements. 

Working capital requirements in the U.S. and Alberta result from the timing difference between customer consumption and cash 

receipts. For electricity, working capital is required to fund the lag between settlements with the suppliers and settlement with 

the LDCs. Under the terms of the credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR advances at 

stamping fees of 1.5%, prime rate advances at Canadian and U.S. prime plus 0.5% and letters of credit at 1.5%. 

The increase in accounts receivable from $207.8 million to $249.5 million is primarily attributable to the improved margin and 

increased customers for both gas and electricity. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities has also increased from $128.7 million 

to $165.4 million relating to increased customer consumption associated with the normal seasonality of the Fund. 

Gas in storage has increased from $4.3 million to $6.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2009. The increased balance reflects 

injections into storage for the expanding U.S. customer base. 

At the end of the year, customers in Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec had consumed more gas than was supplied to the LDCs for their 

use. Since Just Energy is paid for this gas when delivered yet recognizes revenue when the gas is consumed by the customer, the result 

on the balance sheet is the unbilled revenue amount of $57.8 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $41.4 million. At March 31, 

2008, Just Energy had unbilled revenues amounting to $47.3 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $38.5 million. 

Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy elected to discontinue the practice of hedge accounting. Previously, the Fund had elected to use 

hedge accounting and thus was able to book the changes in fair value predominantly to other comprehensive income. The mark to 

market gains and losses can result in significant changes in net income and accordingly Unitholders’ equity from quarter to quarter 

due to commodity price volatility. Given that the Fund has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, 

management believes that these noncash quarterly changes are not meaningful. 

Contractual obligations 
In the normal course of business, the Fund is obligated to make future payments for contracts and other commitments that are 

known and noncancellable. 

Payments due by period 
(thousands of dollars) 

Total 
Less than 

1 year 1–3 years 4–5 years 
After 

5 years 

Property and equipment lease agreements 

EPCOR billing and collections 

Gas and electricity supply purchase commitments 

$ 25,498 

31,205 

3,549,055 

$ 5,499 

10,111 

1,343,509 

$ 9,150 

21,094 

1,661,520 

$ 5,034 

– 

531,174 

$ 5,815 

– 

12,852 

$ 3,605,758 $ 1,359,119 $ 1,691,764 $ 536,208 $ 18,667 

Other obligations 
In the opinion of management, the Fund has no material pending actions, claims or proceedings that have not been either included in 

its accrued liabilities or in the financial statements. In the normal course of business the Fund could be subject to certain contingent 

obligations that become payable only if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial 

impact of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such 

obligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings. 
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Transactions with related parties 
The Fund does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent to the 

Fund or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates. 

Critical accounting estimates 
The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Certain accounting 

policies require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost 

of sales, marketing and general and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and 

various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information and 

changed circumstances may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates. 

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. The Fund might realize different results 

from the application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rulemaking bodies. 

Unbilled revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable 
Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates 

are stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy’s obligation to the LDC with respect to gas 

consumed by customers in excess of that delivered. This obligation is also valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for 

the gas business unit only, since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average 

customer contract price and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues 
Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections 

from LDCs in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is 

required for the gas business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current 

average customer contract price and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customers’ accounts in Alberta, Illinois and Texas. In addition, 

for large direct billed accounts in B.C. and Ontario, the Fund is responsible for the bad debt risk. Management estimates the 

allowance for doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financial conditions of each jurisdiction, the aging of the receivables, 

customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience. 

Goodwill 
In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy’s future cash flow. If the 

estimates change in the future, the Fund may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment review 

of goodwill was performed during fiscal 2009 and as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill 

existed at March 31, 2009. 

Fair value of derivative financial instruments and risk management 
The Fund has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas, 

electricity and the GEO. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices and provide 

comfort to certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation. These customer contracts 

expose Just Energy to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price 

changes, Just Energy uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixedprice commodity supply to cover its estimated 

delivery or green commitment obligations. 

The Fund’s business model objective is to minimize commodity risk other than consumption changes, usually attributable to 

weather. Accordingly, it is Just Energy’s policy to hedge the estimated requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of 

natural gas and electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply 

contracts is expected to be effective in offsetting Funds’ price exposure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas and electricity to be 

delivered under the fixedprice or priceprotected customer contracts. Just Energy’s policy is not to use derivative instruments for 

speculative purposes. 

Just Energy’s expansion in the U.S. has introduced foreign exchangerelated risks. Just Energy has entered into foreign exchange 

forwards in order to hedge the exposure to fluctuations in cross border cash flows. 

The financial statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the CICA Handbook, which requires a determination of fair 

value for all derivative financial instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Section 3865 of the 
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CICA Handbook, which permitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effective 

and ineffective portion of the hedge. This calculation permitted the majority of the change in fair value to be accounted for in the 

statement of other comprehensive income. As of July 1, 2008, management decided that the increasing complexity and costs of 

maintaining this accounting treatment outweighed the benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffectiveness) is 

determined using market information at the end of each quarter. Management believes the Fund remains economically hedged 

operationally across all jurisdictions. 

Preference shares of OESC and trust units 
As at May 13, 2009, there were 5,263,728 Class A preference shares of OESC outstanding and 106,170,109 units of the 

Fund outstanding. 

Taxability of distributions 
Cash and unit distributions received in calendar 2008 were allocated 100% to other income. Additional information can be found 

on our website at www.justenergy.com. Management estimates the distributions for calendar 2009 will be allocated in a similar 

manner to that of 2008. 

Adoption of new accounting policies 
On April 1, 2008, the Fund adopted three new accounting standards that were issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered 

Accountants (“CICA”); Handbook Section 1535, Capital Disclosures; Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures; 

Handbook Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation. Just Energy adopted these standards prospectively as required by 

the standards. 

Capital Disclosures 
Section 1535 requires disclosure of information related to the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. In addition, 

the disclosure includes whether externally imposed capital requirements have been complied with. As this standard only addresses 

disclosure requirements, there was no impact on the financial position of the Fund. 

Financial Instruments – Disclosures and Financial Instruments – Presentation 
Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures and Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation replace Section 3861, 

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. The new disclosure standards increase the emphasis on the risks associated with 

both recognized and unrecognized financial instruments and how those risks are managed. The new presentation standards carry 

forward the former presentation requirements. As these standards only address presentation and disclosure requirements, there was 

no impact on the financial position of the Fund. 

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee of the CICA approved an abstract (EIC 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities), which clarifies that own credit risk and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken 

into account in determining the fair value of derivative instruments. Just Energy has adopted this standard retrospectively as required 

which resulted in a gain of $2,964 being recorded to its accumulated earnings. 

Recently issued accounting standards 
The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date. 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets – CICA Section 3064 
As of April 1, 2009, the Fund will be required to adopt Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which establishes revised 

standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The new standard is 

effective for fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2008. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of this standard on its 

financial statements. 

Business Combinations 
In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations (“CICA 1582”), concurrently with CICA 

Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements (“CICA 1601”), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Noncontrolling 

Interest (“CICA 1602”). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards 

for the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the 
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preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than noncontrolling interests. CICA 1602 

establishes guidance for the treatment of noncontrolling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These 

new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of 

these standards on its consolidated financial statements. 

International Financial Reporting Standards 
In January 2006, the CICA Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) adopted a strategic plan for the direction of accounting standards 

in Canada. As part of that plan, the AcSB confirmed in February 2008 that International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) will 

replace Canadian GAAP in 2011 for profitoriented Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim financial statement under IFRS for the 

threemonth period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31, 2012. 

Just Energy has identified differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund and an initial assessment has been 

made of the impact of the required changes to accounting systems, business processes, and requirements for personnel training and 

development. Based on the initial assessment of the differences applicable to the Fund, a project team was assembled and a 

conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS. As part of the conversion plan, the Fund is in the 

process of analyzing the detailed impacts of these identified differences and developing solutions to bridge these differences. 

Just Energy is currently on target with its conversion plan. 

Pursuant to the requirements of CSA Staff Notice 52320, the following is the high level summary of the key elements of the IFRS 

conversion plan: 

The Fund is currently analyzing various options available under IFRS including options available under IFRS 1 (Firsttime Adoption of 

International Financial Reporting Standards). Areas that may have a significant impact on the Fund’s financial statements as a result 

of adopting IFRS are IFRS 1, financial instruments, impairment of assets, intangible assets, business combinations and income taxes. 

Information technology and data systems will be assessed, documentation updated and system changes implemented as required. 

It is expected that, at a minimum some changes in systems may need to be enhanced. In addition, system options are under 

consideration to generate financial information under both Canadian GAAP and IFRS. 

As part of the current solution development phase, changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting (“ICFR”) are being 

identified due to changes in the processes and systems. Concurrently with implementation of these changes, the ICFR 

documentation of internal controls will be updated as required, as will the test plans related to management’s ongoing assessment 

of ICFR. 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures (“DC&P”), including investor relations and external communications plans, will be assessed and 

documentation of DC&P will be updated as required, as will test plans related to management’s ongoing assessment of DC&P 

(which includes investor relations and external communication processes). 

Just Energy recognizes that training at all levels is essential to a successful conversion and integration. To date, finance staff, other 

relevant employees, including certain members of senior management, have attended initial IFRS training sessions. Additional 

training and communication programs will be developed for delivery to the Audit Committee, Board of Directors, senior 

management and other stakeholders, as required. Finance staff and other relevant employees will continue to receive ongoing 

training, as needed, throughout the conversion process. 

While a detailed analysis of the impact of conversion on business activities is progressing, based on the diagnostic review, 

management does not anticipate any significant changes to the business activities. As part of its review, the Fund will assess the 

impact of adopting IFRS on various items such as debt covenants and capital requirements. 

The above disclosure related to IFRS is based on management’s current interpretation of requirements and may change as new 

information becomes available. 
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Risk factors 
Described below are the principal risks and uncertainties that Just Energy can foresee. It is not an exhaustive list, some future risks 

may be as yet unknown and other risks, currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be material. 

Credit, commodity and other marketrelated risks 
Availability of supply and dependence on Shell Energy 

The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity arrangements. Just Energy’s business model is based on 

contracting for supply to lock in margin. While Just Energy has the ability to select alternative commodity suppliers, approximately 

49% of its gas and 54% of its electricity supply contracts are currently with the Shell Entities. There is a risk that counterparties 

could not deliver due to business failure, supply shortage or be otherwise unable to perform their obligations under their agreements 

with Just Energy, or that Just Energy could not identify alternatives to Shell Entities. Just Energy continues to investigate opportunities 

to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and electricity suppliers. In addition to the Shell Entities, Just Energy has contracts with 

other commodity suppliers including the BP Entities, Bruce Power, Constellation and EPCOR. Other suppliers represent less than 

1% and 2% of our gas and electricity supply, respectively. 

Volatility of commodity prices – Enforcement 

A key risk to Just Energy’s business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or electricity resulting in some 

customers renouncing their contracts. Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated 

damages and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material adverse 

impact to cash flow. Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, 

pricing and communications to mitigate this risk. 

Availability of credit 

Just Energy operates in the Illinois, Texas, Indiana and Alberta markets, which provide for payment by LDCs only when the customer 

has paid for the consumed commodity (rather than when the commodity is delivered). Also, in the Illinois and Indiana markets, 

Just Energy must inject gas inventory into storage in advance of payment. These factors, along with the seasonality of customer 

consumption, create working capital requirements necessitating the use of Just Energy’s available credit. In addition, some of 

Just Energy’s subsidiaries and affiliates are required to provide credit assurance, by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, 

in connection with commodity supply contracts, license obligations and obligations owed to certain LDCs. Cash flow and distributions 

could be impacted by the ability of Just Energy to fund such requirements or to provide other satisfactory credit assurance for such 

obligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impact to cash flows, Just Energy has security arrangements in place 

pursuant to which commodity suppliers and the lenders under the credit facility hold security over substantially all of the assets of 

Just Energy (other than AESLP and Newten). AESLP in turn has similar arrangements in place solely with EPCOR. Other commodity 

suppliers’ security requirements are met through cash margining, guarantees and letters of credit. The most significant assets of Just 

Energy consist of its contracts with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors and commodity suppliers. To 

date, the credit facility and related security agreements have met the collateral posting and operational requirements of the business. 

Just Energy continues to monitor its credit and security requirements. Just Energy’s business may be adversely affected if it is unable to 

meet cash obligations for operational requirements or its collateral posting requirements. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or 

commodity. Although Just Energy manages its estimated customer requirements net of contracted commodity to zero, it is exposed 

to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match actual 

customer requirements or where it has not been able to exactly purchase the estimated customer requirements. Just Energy is also 

exposed to interest rates associated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates associated with the repatriation of 

U.S. denominated funds for Canadian denominated distributions. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by a number of 

factors, including accuracy of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets, 

and the absolute and relative levels of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative 

instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices and foreign currency rates; current exposure to interest 

rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix 

the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand in Canadian dollars and thereby fix margins such that Unitholder 

distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally transacted over the counter. The inability or 

failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks could have a material adverse effect on the operations and 

cash flow of Just Energy. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 42 



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Market risk governance 

Just Energy has adopted a corporatewide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and any derivative 

trading activities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just Energy monitors companywide energy risk 

management activities as well as foreign exchange and interest rate activities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that 

oversees management. The Risk Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance with the Risk 

Management Policy. The Risk Office is responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks 

within limitations imposed by the Board of Directors in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. Market risks are monitored by 

the Risk Office and internal Risk Committee utilizing industryaccepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in 

addition to company specific measures. The Risk Office operates and reports independently of the traders. The failure or inability of 

Just Energy to comply with and monitor its Risk Management Policy could have an adverse effect on the operations and cash flow 

of Just Energy. 

Energy trading inherent risks 

Energy trading subjects Just Energy to some inherent risks associated with future contractual commitments, including market and 

operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity and volatility. There is continuous monitoring 

and reporting of the valuation of identified risks to the internal Risk Committee, Executive Committee and the Risk Committee of 

the Board of Directors. The failure or inability of Just Energy to monitor and address the energy trading inherent risks could have a 

material adverse effect on its operations and cash flow. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas and Illinois, credit review processes have been implemented to manage customer default as Just Energy has credit 

risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commercial customers in other jurisdictions. In addition, there is a credit 

policy that has been established to govern these processes. If a significant number of residential customers or a collection of larger 

commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse 

effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations for all 

customers in Illinois, Texas and Alberta and commercial customers where Just Energy has the credit risk. 

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy’s 

customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no 

assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual 

obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates thus impacting the 

related customer margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related Canadian dollar 

denominated distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limits 

requires approval from the Board of Directors of OESC. The Risk Office and internal Risk Committee monitor current and potential 

credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty 

to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 

Electricity supply – Balancing risk 

It is Just Energy’s policy to procure the estimated electricity requirements of its customers with offsetting electricity swaps in advance 

of obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less electricity 

than the volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy is able to invoice some of its existing electricity 

customers for balancing charges or credits when the amount of energy used is greater than or less than the amount of energy that 

Just Energy has estimated. For certain Texas and commercial customers, Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer 

consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate the estimated 

associated costs. In certain circumstances, there can be balancing issues for which Just Energy is responsible when customer 

aggregation forecasts are not realized. 

Natural gas supply – Balancing risk 

It is Just Energy’s policy to procure the estimated gas requirements of its customers with offsetting gas physical forwards in advance 

of obtaining customers. Depending on several factors, including weather, Just Energy’s customers may use more or less gas than the 

volume purchased by Just Energy for delivery to them. Just Energy does not invoice its natural gas customers for balancing and, 

accordingly, bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors gas consumption and has an options 

strategy that covers forecast differences in customer consumption due to weather variations as well as forecast LDC balancing 

requirements. The cost of this strategy is incorporated in the price to the customer. To the extent that forecast balancing 

requirements are outside the options purchased, Just Energy will bear financing responsibility, be exposed to market risk and, 
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furthermore, may also be exposed to penalties by the LDCs. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor these 

balancing risks could have a material adverse effect on its operations and cash flow. In addition, for certain commercial customers, 

Just Energy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumption. Just Energy monitors consumption and has a balancing and 

pricing strategy to accommodate for the estimated associated costs. 

Operational risks 
Information technology systems 

Just Energy operates in a highvolume business with an extensive array of data interchanges and market requirements. Just Energy is 

dependent on its management information systems to track, monitor and correct or otherwise verify a high volume of data to 

ensure the reported financial results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information systems to provide its 

independent contractors with compensation information and to electronically record each customer telephone interaction. 

Just Energy’s information systems also help management forecast new customer enrolments and their energy requirements, which 

help ensure that the Fund is able to supply its new customers’ estimated average energy requirements without exposing the Fund to 

the spot market beyond the risk tolerances established by the Risk Management Policy. The failure of Just Energy to install and 

maintain these systems could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 

Reliance on third party service providers 

In all jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform billing and collection services except as follows: in the 

Province of Alberta and State of Texas, where Just Energy is required to invoice and receive payments directly from its customers; in 

Illinois, where Just Energy is responsible for collection of defaulted amounts; in British Columbia, where Just Energy is required to 

invoice and receive payments from certain commercial customers and in Ontario, where Just Energy would be responsible for 

collection of defaulted amounts in respect of certain large volume users in one utility territory. To date, no defaults have been 

experienced in this last category. In 2005, Just Energy entered into a fiveyear agreement with EPCOR for the provision of billing and 

collection services for all of Just Energy’s customers in Alberta which was amended and extended in December 2008. Pursuant to 

the amended agreement, EPCOR will continue to provide billing and collection services for AESLP until November 30, 2011, with 

respect to AESLP’s existing customers. In the late summer of 2009, Just Energy intends to begin billing and collection services directly 

for all new customers signed and renewed customers. If the LDCs cease to perform these services, Just Energy would have to seek a 

third party billing provider or develop internal systems to perform these functions. There is no assurance that the LDCs will continue 

to provide these services in the future. 

Outsourcing and offshoring arrangements 

Just Energy has outsource arrangements, predominantly to support the call centre’s requirements for business continuity plans and 

independence for regulatory purposes. Contract data input is also outsourced. Some of the outsourcing contracts are offshore. As 

with any contractual relationship, there are inherent risks to be mitigated and these are actively managed, predominantly through 

quality control measures and regular reporting. 

Competition 

A number of companies (Direct Energy, Superior Energy and MX Energy) and incumbent utility subsidiaries compete with Just Energy 

in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and 

compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by 

changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other than cost, their existing customer bases could provide 

them with a significant competitive advantage. This may limit the number of customers available for marketers including Just Energy. 

Dependence on independent sales contractors 

Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors despite competition among Just Energy’s competitors. If Just Energy 

is unable to attract a sufficient number of independent sales contractors, Just Energy’s customer additions and renewals may 

decrease and the Fund may not be able to execute its business strategy. The continued growth of Just Energy is reliant on 

distribution channels, including the services of its independent sales contractors. There can be no assurance that competitive 

conditions will allow these independent sales contractors, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these 

customer additions. Lack of success in these marketing programs would limit future growth of the cash flow of Just Energy. 

Just Energy has consistently taken the position that its independent sales contractors act independently pursuant to their contracts 

for service, which provide that Just Energy does not control how, where or when they provide their services. On occasion, an 

independent contractor may make a claim that they are entitled to a benefit pursuant to legislation even though they have entered 

into a contract with Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to employees, and Just Energy 

must respond to these claims. Just Energy’s position has been confirmed by regulatory bodies in many instances, but Just Energy is 
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currently appealing the findings of two regulatory bodies (one in Canada and one in the U.S.). Should Just Energy be unsuccessful in 

its appeals, Just Energy would be required to remit unpaid tax amounts plus interest and might be assessed a penalty. It could also 

mean that Just Energy would have to reassess its position in respect of other regulatory matters affecting its independent sales 

contractors such as income tax treatment. Such a decision could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of 

Just Energy. 

Electricity contract renewals and attrition rates 

As at March 31, 2009, Just Energy held longterm electricity contracts reflecting approximately 812,000 longterm electricity RCEs, 

of which 8% renew in 2010, 18% renew in 2011, 19% in 2012, 25% in 2013, and 30% beyond 2013. Although Just Energy has 

experienced electricity contract attrition rates of approximately 13% per year, there can be no assurance that this rate of annual 

attrition will not increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing electricity contracts at the expiry of their 

terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affect (potentially adversely) attrition 

and renewal rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. See discussion under 

“Failed to renew” on page 32. Just Energy’s experience is that approximately 67% of its electricity customers have renewed at the 

expiry of the term of their contract. 

Gas contract renewals and attrition rates 

As at March 31, 2009, Just Energy had longterm gas contracts reflecting approximately 978,000 longterm gas RCEs, of which 

21% renew in 2010, 22% renew in 2011, 18% in 2012, 19% in 2013, and 20% renew beyond 2013. The experience of Just Energy 

is that approximately 73% of gas customers renew at the expiry of the term of their contract. Although Just Energy has experienced 

gas contract attrition rates of approximately 15% per year, there can be no assurance that this rate of annual attrition will not 

increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing gas contracts at the expiration of their terms. Changes in 

customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affect (potentially adversely) attrition and renewal rates 

in the future and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. See discussion under “Failed to renew” 

on page 32. 

Cash distributions are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of Just Energy 

Although Just Energy intends to distribute the interest and other income it earns less expenses and amounts, if any, paid by 

Just Energy in connection with the redemption of units, there can be no assurance regarding the amounts of income to be 

generated by the Fund’s affiliates and paid, directly or indirectly, to the Fund. The ability to distribute and the actual amount 

distributed in respect of the units will depend upon numerous factors, including profitability; fluctuations in working capital; debt 

service requirements (including compliance with credit facility obligations); the sustainability of margins; the ability of Just Energy 

to procure, at favourable prices, its estimated commitment to supply natural gas and electricity to its customers; the ability of 

Just Energy to secure additional gas and electricity contracts and other factors beyond the control of Just Energy. Management 

of Just Energy cannot make any assurances that the Fund’s affiliates will be able to pass any additional costs arising from legislative 

changes (or any amendments) on to customers. Cash distributions are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of 

the Fund’s affiliates and other factors. 

Earnings volatility 

Just Energy’s business is seasonal in nature. In addition to regular seasonal fluctuations in its earnings, there is significant volatility in 

its earnings associated with the requirement to mark its commodity contracts to market. The earnings volatility associated with 

seasonality and mark to market accounting may be misconstrued as instability, thereby impacting access to capital. Management 

ensures there is adequate disclosure for both the mark to market and seasonality to mitigate this risk. 

Model risk 

The approach to calculation of market value and customer forecasts requires dataintensive modelling used in conjunction with 

certain assumptions when independently verifiable information is not available. Although Just Energy uses industry standard 

approaches and validates its internally developed models, results could change significantly should underlying assumptions prove 

incorrect or an embedded modelling error go undetected in the vetting process. 

Commodity alternatives 

To the extent that natural gas and electricity enjoy a price advantage over other forms of energy, such price advantage may be 

transitory and consumers may switch to the use of another form of energy. The inherent volatility of natural gas and electricity prices 

could result in these other sources of energy providing more significant competition to Just Energy. 
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Capital asset and replacement risk 

The Fund does not invest in a significant capital asset program and the vast majority of capital asset expenditures are with respect to 

information technology including telephony. The capital asset expenditure cash flow in fiscal 2009 represents 4% of operating cash 

flow and has been funded through operations. Replacement of capital assets is not considered significant. 

Material debt arrangements 

The Fund’s credit facility is in the amount of $170.0 million. There are various covenants pursuant to the credit facility that govern 

most of the Fund’s subsidiaries and affiliates. In addition, the Fund is required to submit monthly reporting covering, among other 

things, mark to market exposure, borrowing base certificate and a supply/demand projection. To date, the Fund has met the 

requirements of the credit facility. Should the credit facility be unavailable, there would be a significant material adverse effect as the 

likely result would be either a replacement facility with increased costs or an inability to operate. 

Disruptions to infrastructure 

Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contracted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of the 

distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastructure would result in counterparties and thereafter Just Energy enacting 

the force majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there would be no revenue or associated cost of sales 

to report for the affected areas. 

Expansion strategy and future acquisitions 

The Fund plans to grow its business by expansion into additional deregulated markets through organic growth and acquisitions. 

The expansion into additional markets is subject to a number of risks, any of which could prevent the Fund from realizing its 

business strategy. 

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could harm the Fund’s business, including difficulties in integrating the 

operations, technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the 

anticipated synergies of the combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any, or assets of the 

target company may exceed the value the Fund realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or 

other resources to another opportunity; risks of entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience or 

are outside its core competencies; potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy’s current 

business or the business of the target; assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality 

of the products of the target; and inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs. 

Future acquisitions or expansion could result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest expense, as well as unforeseen 

liabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s business, results of operations and financial condition. The 

failure to successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or otherwise adequately address the risks associated with acquisitions could 

have a material adverse effect on Just Energy’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require 

additional financing should an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the 

expansion of its business or such funding may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that 

Just Energy will determine to pursue any acquisition or that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful. 

Legal, regulatory and securities risks 
Legislative and regulatory environment 

Just Energy operates in the highly regulated natural gas and electricity retail sales industry in the provinces of Ontario, Manitoba, 

Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta and in the states of Illinois, Indiana, New York and Texas. It must comply with the legislation 

and regulations in these jurisdictions in order to maintain its licensed status and to continue its operations. There is potential for 

change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy’s business model. 

As part of doing business as a doortodoor marketing company, Just Energy receives complaints from consumers which may involve 

sanctions from regulatory and legal authorities including those which issue marketing licences. Similarly, changes to consumer 

protection legislation in those provinces and states where Just Energy markets to noncommercial customers may, favourably or 

unfavourably, impact Just Energy’s business model. Just Energy has a dedicated team of inhouse regulatory advisors to ensure 

adequate knowledge of the legislation and regulations in order that operations may be advised of regulations pursuant to which 

procedures are required to be implemented and monitored to maintain license status. When new markets are entered, the team 

assesses the market and determines if additional expertise (internal or external) is required. There is also a team that monitors and 

addresses complaints with a view to mitigating underlying causes of complaints. 
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In addition to the complaints and class actions referenced herein and litigation in the ordinary course of business, Just Energy may in 

the future be subject to class actions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contracts and marketing 

practices. See the “Legal proceedings” section on page 48 of this report. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could 

be, time consuming and expensive and could distract our executive team from the conduct of Just Energy’s daily business. The 

adverse resolution of any specific lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on our ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits and 

on the Fund’s financial condition and liquidity. 

Investment eligibility 

Just Energy will endeavour to ensure that the units continue to be qualified investments for registered retirement savings plans, 

deferred profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education savings plans. The Tax Act imposes 

penalties for the acquisition or holding of nonqualified or ineligible investments and there is no assurance that the conditions 

prescribed for such qualified or eligible investments will be adhered to at any particular time. 

Nature of units 

Securities such as the units are hybrids in that they share certain attributes common to both equity securities and debt instruments. 

The units do not represent a direct investment in the natural gas or electricity wholesale business and should not be viewed by 

investors as shares or securities in any of the Fund’s affiliates. As holders of units, subject to the Trust Beneficiaries’ Liability Act, 

2004, Unitholders do not have the statutory rights normally associated with ownership of shares of a company including, for 

example, the right to bring “oppressive” or “derivative” actions. The units represent a fractional interest in the Fund. The Fund’s 

primary assets are its direct and indirect interests in the securities of its affiliates. The price per unit is, among other things, a 

function of anticipated distributable income. 

Redemption right 

It is anticipated that the redemption right will not be the primary mechanism for Unitholders to liquidate their investments. OESC 

Notes, Notes of OESC Exchangeco II Inc. (“Exchangeco II”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund, and the Fund Notes (of which 

none are outstanding), which may be distributed in specie to Unitholders in connection with a redemption, will not be listed on any 

stock exchange and no established market is expected to develop for such OESC Notes, Exchangeco II Notes and the Fund Notes. 

Cash redemptions are subject to limitations. 

Unitholder limited liability 

The Declaration of Trust provides that no Unitholder will be subject to any liability in connection with the Fund or its assets or 

obligations, and in the event that a court determines that Unitholders are subject to any such liabilities, the liabilities will be 

enforceable only against, and will be satisfied only out of, the Unitholders’ shares of the Fund’s assets. 

The Declaration of Trust further provides that the trustee and the Fund shall make all reasonable efforts to include as a specific term of 

any obligations or liabilities being incurred by the Fund or the trustee on behalf of the Fund a contractual provision to the effect that 

neither the Unitholders nor the trustee have any personal liability or obligations in respect thereof. The Administration Agreement 

contains such provisions. Personal liability may also arise in respect of claims against the Fund that do not arise under contracts, 

including claims in tort, claims for taxes and possibly certain other statutory liabilities. As the Fund’s activities are generally limited to 

investing in securities issued by its affiliates, the possibility of any personal liability of this nature arising is considered remote. 

On December 16, 2004, the Government of Ontario passed the Trust Beneficiaries’ Liability Act, 2004, which limits the liability of 

holders of trust units, in a manner similar to that afforded to holders of shares of Ontario incorporated limited liability corporations. 

The legislation provides that the beneficiaries of a trust are not as beneficiaries, liable for any act, default, obligation or liability of 

the trust or any of its trustees that arises after the act became law if, when the act or default occurs or the obligation or liability 

arises: (a) the trust is a reporting issuer under the Securities Act (Ontario) and (b) the trust is governed by the laws of Ontario. The 

Fund is a reporting issuer under the Securities Act (Ontario) and is governed by the laws of Ontario. However, the courts have not 

yet had an opportunity to consider this legislation. 

The operations of the Fund will be conducted, upon the advice of counsel, in such a way and in such jurisdictions as to avoid as far 

as possible any material risk of liability on the Unitholders for claims against the Fund. 
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Distribution of common shares and notes on termination of the Fund 

Upon termination of the Fund, the trustee may distribute the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, OESC Notes, 

Exchangeco II Notes and the Fund Notes directly to the Unitholders, subject to obtaining all required regulatory approvals. There is 

currently no market for the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco II Notes, OESC Notes, or the Fund Notes. In 

addition, the common shares, Exchangeco common shares, Exchangeco II Notes, OESC Notes and the Fund Notes are not freely 

tradable and are not currently listed on any stock exchange. 

The Fund may issue additional units diluting existing Unitholders’ interests 

The Declaration of Trust authorizes the OESC as administrator to cause the Fund to issue an unlimited number of units for such 

consideration and on such terms and conditions as shall be established by the Administrator without the approval of any 

Unitholders. Additional units have been and will be issued by the Fund on the exercise of the Exchangeco II Exchange Rights relating 

to the Class A preference shares. 

Restrictions on potential growth 

The payout by the Fund’s affiliates of the vast majority of all of their operating cash flow will make additional capital and operating 

expenditures dependent on increased cash flow or additional financing in the future. Lack of such funds could limit the future 

growth of Just Energy and its cash flow. 

Changes in securities legislation 

There can be no assurance that the treatment of mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects 

Unitholders. If the Fund ceases to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax Act, the units will cease to be qualified investments 

for registered retirement savings plans, deferred profit sharing plans, registered retirement income funds and registered education 

savings plans. 

Legal proceedings 
On March 3, 2008, the Citizen’s Utility Board (“CUB”), AARP and Citizen Action/Illinois filed a complaint before the Illinois 

Commerce Commission alleging claims very similar to those in the Illinois AG Complaint. Just Energy has commenced discussion 

with CUB to address and defend the allegations and intends to seek a constructive resolution to the matter. 

On March 20, 2008, an Indiana resident filed a proposed consumer class action against JE Illinois in Illinois also based on allegations 

similar to those made by the Illinois Attorney General. The court dismissed the action and ordered the plaintiff to refile with proper 

jurisdiction cited (citizenship and quantum). The action has been restricted to Indiana plaintiffs on a limited basis. The plaintiff will 

now have to seek certification. 

On April 4, 2008, NYESC was served with a complaint initiated by a commercial customer in New York that proposes a class action 

against NYESC, the Fund and the LDC (Consolidated Edison) on behalf of residents of New York City. On December 16, 2008, the 

court dismissed the complaint against the Fund and the complaint against NYESC was referred to arbitration. The plaintiff’s 

representative filed an appeal but has yet, under state court rules, perfected it, which it has until July 15, 2009, to do so. 

Just Energy will resolve or vigorously contest the claims in these matters. Management believes that the pending legal actions 

against JE Illinois, NYESC or the Fund are not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition and liquidity of the Fund 

at this time. 

Controls and procedures 
Just Energy maintains appropriate information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information disclosed externally is 

complete, reliable and timely. Just Energy’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation 

under their direct supervision of, the design and operating effectiveness of the Fund’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 

in National Instrument 52109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings) as at March 31, 2009, and have 

concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were appropriately designed and were operating effectively. 

Just Energy has also established adequate internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of the Fund’s financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 

GAAP. Just Energy’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer assessed, or caused an assessment under their direct 

supervision of, the design and operating effectiveness of the Fund’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in National 

Instrument 52109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings) as at March 31, 2009, using the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Based on that assessment, it was determined that Just Energy’s 

internal controls over financial reporting were appropriately designed and were operating effectively. 
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Just Energy did not make any changes to the design of its internal controls over financial reporting during the year ended 

March 31, 2009, that would have materially affected or would reasonably likely to materially affect the Fund’s internal controls 

over financial reporting. 

It should be noted that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation 

of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, including instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These 

inherent limitations include, among other items, (i) that management’s assumptions and judgments could ultimately prove to be 

incorrect under varying conditions and circumstances; (ii) the impact of any undetected errors; and (iii) controls may be circumvented 

by the unauthorized acts of individuals, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override. 

The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there 

can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. 

Corporate governance 
Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. 

Full disclosure of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www.justenergy.com and 

will be included in the Fund’s May 15, 2009 management information circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate 

governance and disclosure environment to ensure timely compliance with current and future requirements. 

Outlook 
On April 22, 2009 Just Energy announced that it entered into a definitive agreement to acquire by way of plan of arrangement 

(the “Arrangement”) all of the outstanding common shares of the Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEG”), a TSX listed marketer of 

deregulated natural gas and electricity. The Arrangement will provide for a share exchange through which each outstanding share of 

UEG will be exchanged for 0.58 of a share (the “Exchangeable Shares”) of a subsidiary of the Fund. Each Exchangeable Share will 

be exchangeable into one Just Energy trust unit at any time at the option of the holder for no additional consideration. The 

transaction is expected to close in early July and is subject to certain conditions including approval of UEG shareholders, compliance 

with the Competition Act, approval of Just Energy’s lenders and satisfaction of other customary approvals. The transaction would 

require the issuance of approximately 21.1 million Exchangeable Shares increasing the diluted units of the Fund to 132.6 million. 

The Fund has entered into support agreements (the “Support Agreements”) with holders of 51% of the outstanding shares of UEG. 

These Support Agreements require these holders to, among other things, (i) vote or cause to be voted, the holder’s UEG securities in 

favour of the proposed Arrangement at the UEG meeting; (ii) not to exercise any dissent rights or other rights available to delay, 

upset or challenge the Arrangement; (iii) not to sell or otherwise dispose of the holder’s UEG securities; (iv) not to solicit or otherwise 

knowingly encourage any other acquisition proposal of UEG; (v) to refrain from taking or causing to be taken any actions that would 

reduce the likelihood of the Arrangement being successfully completed; and, with respect to certain holders, (vi) to enter into an 

escrow agreement at closing under which 60% of the holder’s Exchangeable Shares shall be escrowed as of closing and released as 

to 50% on the first anniversary of the closing date and as to 50% on the second anniversary of the closing date. 

Management believes that the acquisition of UEG will be immediately accretive to both gross margin and distributable cash per unit 

despite the transition costs of merging the operations. The full benefit of the acquisition will not be seen until fiscal 2011 when the 

savings from elimination of administrative overlap will be fully realized. 

The UEG acquisition brings a total of 14 U.S. state marketing licenses which will provide an option for accelerated entry into 

attractive American markets. UEG currently supplies over 580,000 RCEs in Ontario, British Columbia, Michigan, California, Ohio, 

Pennsylvania, Maryland and New Jersey. 

UEG operates a very successful home services business renting and selling water heaters and related products. This business will be 

merged with the Newten water heater business and management believes the growth of this business will accelerate significantly. 

UEG also owns a 66.7% interest in Terra Grain Fuels, a 150millionlitrecapacity ethanol plant located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. 

The plant is currently making repairs to its facility to move to full capacity production. Management does not currently expect that 

ethanol will form a longterm segment of Just Energy’s business. 

On February 7, 2008, the Attorney General for Illinois filed a complaint against JE Illinois (the “Illinois AG Complaint”). The Illinois 

AG Complaint alleged that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in their sale of Just Energy contracts to Illinois 

customers. On May 12, 2009, a settlement of the action was reached subject to court approval. Under this settlement, JE Illinois will 

comply with several consumer safeguards, many of which JE Illinois has practiced for more than a year. In addition, $1.0 million will 

be paid to a limited number of customers in settlement of claims. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The financial positions of the Fund’s commodity suppliers remain sound based on analysis by management as are those of the banks 

participating in the credit facility. Management does not believe that weakness in the global credit markets will have any nearterm 

impact on either existing business or the Fund’s ability to grow in the future. 

Management’s best estimation is that Just Energy will again grow its key operating measures during fiscal 2010. Gross margin and 

distributable cash after gross margin replacement per unit are expected to grow by approximately 5–10%, including the acquisition 

from UEG. Distributable cash after marketing expenses is expected to grow at a slightly lower rate due to increased marketing 

expenses associated with the forecasted volume additions and GEO product growth. Total RCEs are expected to grow after all 

attrition and failure to renew. However, management is not in a position to provide guidance on the level of customer growth 

pending acquisition of the UEG sales force and its integration into Just Energy. Investors will be updated in future quarters on the 

customer growth expectations. 

The economies of Just Energy’s markets are currently in the midst of a significant recession. These very weak North American 

economic conditions and the turmoil in the credit and financial markets have had a limited effect on Just Energy. In general, utility 

bills are among the last to go unpaid in times of financial hardship. Impact on the Fund to date has been limited to higher than 

expected attrition in the United States due to record foreclosures and utility shutoffs. Bad debt losses increased in the third and 

fourth quarter but remain comfortably in the mid range of the Fund’s 2–3% longterm target range. There can be no assurance that 

bad debt losses will not increase further during an extended recession. The Fund does not bear bad debt risk in Ontario, Quebec, 

Manitoba, British Columbia (excluding large volume customers), New York and Indiana. These markets contain approximately 74% 

of Just Energy’s customers. 

In the past, times of financial stress have increased the importance of accurate budgeting for homeowners and small businesses. 

This has, to date, been positive for Just Energy and its insurancetype contracts, and strong marketing results for the past three 

quarters bear this out. Finally, tight credit and a weak economy should increase the number of competitors that fail or are forced to 

sell out. This will be favourable for a wellcapitalized company like Just Energy. 

The Fund intends to continue its geographic expansion into new markets in the United States both through organic growth and 

focused acquisitions. The Fund is actively reviewing a number of further possible acquisitions. Just Energy continues to actively 

monitor the progress of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions. 

Changes made to the Income Tax Act require certain income trusts, including Just Energy, to pay taxes after 2010, similar to those 

paid by taxable Canadian corporations. The payment of such taxes will, in the future, reduce the cash flow of the Fund, thereby 

reducing the amount available for distributions to unitholders. Just Energy is actively analyzing potential restructuring options in 

preparation for conversion from a trust to a corporation on or before 2011. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Income Fund and all the information in this annual report are 

the responsibility of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles. The consolidated financial statements include some amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. 

Management has determined such amounts on a reasonable basis in order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are 

presented fairly, in all material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual report has been prepared on a 

consistent basis with that in the consolidated financial statements. 

Just Energy Income Fund maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. These systems are designated to 

provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Fund’s assets are properly 

accounted for and adequately safeguarded. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately 

responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally 

through its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is comprised entirely of nonmanagement directors. The Audit 

Committee meets periodically with management and the external auditors, to discuss auditing, internal controls, accounting policy 

and financial reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements with both management and the 

external auditors and reports its findings to the Board of Directors before such statements are approved by the Board. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, the external auditors, in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted auditing standards on behalf of the Unitholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee, 

with and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting 

and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. 

On behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Ontario Energy Savings Corp., as administrator. 

Ken Hartwick Beth Summers 

Chief Executive Officer and President Chief Financial Officer 
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AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS 

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS 

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Energy Savings Income Fund as at March 31, 2009 and 2008 and the 

consolidated statement of operations, unitholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for the years then 

ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 

plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall financial statement presentation. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company 

as at March 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Canada 

May 13, 2009 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As at March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2009 2008 

Assets 
Current 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash (Note 5) 

Accounts receivable 
Gas in storage 
Inventory 
Unbilled revenues 
Prepaid expenses 
Corporate taxes recoverable 
Other assets – current (Note 12a) 

$ 59,094 
7,609 

249,480 
6,690 
257 

57,779 
2,020 

– 
5,544 

$ 27,310 
4,749 

207,793 
4,268 

– 
47,299 
2,343 
2,665 

193,398 

Gas contracts (less accumulated amortization – $710; 2008 – $nil) 
Electricity contracts (less accumulated amortization – $37,216; 2008 – $32,401) 
Goodwill 
Capital assets (Note 7) 

Other assets – long term (Note 12a) 

Future income tax assets (Note 9) 

388,473 
1,513 
3,584 

117,061 
19,971 
5,153 

– 

489,825 
– 

1,527 
116,146 
16,637 
75,560 
9,420 

$ 535,755 $ 709,115 

Liabilities 
Current 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Customer rebates payable (Note 5) 

Management incentive program payable 
Unit distribution payable 
Corporate taxes payable 
Accrued gas accounts payable 
Other liabilities – current (Note 12a) 

$ 165,431 
7,309 
1,093 
10,977 
1,906 
41,379 
519,352 

$ 128,682 
4,617 
2,235 

30,696 
– 

38,522 
59,150 

Longterm debt (Note 8) 

Deferred lease inducements 
Other liabilities – long term (Note 12a) 

Future income tax liabilities (Note 9) 

747,447 
76,500 
2,382 

401,720 
– 

263,902 
67,583 
2,817 

156,390 
19,458 

1,228,049 510,150 

Noncontrolling interest (Note 6b) 292 – 

Equity (deficit) 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 

$ (1,470,277) 
364,566 

$ (211,931) 
40,789 

Unitholders’ capital 
Contributed surplus 

(1,105,711) 
398,454 
14,671 

(171,142) 
358,103 
12,004 

Unitholders’ equity (deficit) (692,586) 198,965 

$ 535,755 $ 709,115 

Guarantees (Note 16), Commitments (Note 17), Contingencies (Note 18) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Income Fund by Ontario Energy Savings Corp., as administrator. 

Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair Michael Kirby, Corporate Director 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2009 2008 

Accumulated earnings (deficit) 

Accumulated earnings, beginning of year $ 392,082 $ 237,802 

Adjustment for change in accounting policy (2008 – net of income taxes of $49) (Note 3(II)) 2,964 1,519 

Net income (loss) (1,107,473) 152,761 

Accumulated earnings (deficit), end of year (712,427) 392,082 

Distributions 

Distributions, beginning of year (604,013) (435,430) 

Distributions (148,944) (159,832) 

Class A preference share distributions – net of income taxes of $2,767 (2008 – $4,948) (4,893) (8,751) 

Distributions, end of year (757,850) (604,013) 

Deficit (1,470,277) (211,931) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, beginning of year 40,789 – 

Transitional adjustment upon implementation – derivative instruments designated as 

cash flow hedges and derivative gains previously deferred (2008 – net of income taxes of $1,536) – 113,865 

Adjustment upon conversion – unrealized losses on translation of selfsustaining foreign operations – (87) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 323,777 (72,989) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income, end of year 364,566 40,789 

Unitholders’ capital (Note 10) 

Unitholders’ capital, beginning of year 358,103 328,153 

Trust units exchanged 3,606 5,000 

Trust units issued on exercise/exchange of unit compensation (Note 11d) 5,778 4,793 

Trust units issued 41,176 25,157 

Repurchase and cancellation of units (6,603) – 

Class A preference shares exchanged (3,606) (5,000) 

Unitholders’ capital, end of year 398,454 358,103 

Contributed surplus (Note 11d) 14,671 12,004 

Unitholders’ equity (deficit), end of year $ (692,586) $ 198,965 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For the years ended March 31
 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts)
 

2009 2008 

Sales $ 1,899,213 $ 1,738,690 

Cost of sales 1,576,397 1,463,890 

Gross margin 322,816 274,800 

Expenses 

General and administrative expenses 59,586 51,638 

Capital tax 220 827 

Marketing expenses 68,093 56,121 

Unit based compensation (Note 11d) 4,098 3,076 

Bad debt expense 13,887 6,951 

Amortization of gas contracts 710 177 

Amortization of electricity contracts 2,884 7,384 

Amortization of capital assets 5,100 5,110 

154,578 131,284 

Income before the undernoted 168,238 143,516 

Interest expense (Note 8) 3,857 5,346 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments (Note 12a) 1,336,976 831 

Other income (7,604) (921) 

Income (loss) before income tax (1,164,991) 138,260 

Recovery of income tax (Note 9) (57,460) (14,501) 

Noncontrolling interest (Note 6b) (58) – 

Net income (loss) $ (1,107,473) $ 152,761 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 

Income per unit (Note 14) 

Basic $ (10.03) $ 1.42 

Diluted $ (9.93) $ 1.41 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
For the years ended March 31
 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit amount)
 

2009 2008 

Net income (loss) $ (1,107,473) $ 152,761 

Unrealized gain (loss) on translation of selfsustaining operations (1,906) 3,951 

Unrealized and realized gain (loss) on derivative instruments designated as cash flow 

hedges prior to July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $89,256 (2008 – $(15,266)) (Note 12a) 498,654 (76,940) 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges after July 1, 2008, 

net of income taxes of $38,805 (Note 12a) (172,971) – 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 323,777 (72,989) 

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (783,696) $ 79,772 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2009 2008 

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities 

Operating 

Net income (loss) $ (1,107,473) $ 152,761 

Items not affecting cash 

Amortization of gas contracts 710 177 

Amortization of electricity contracts 2,884 7,384 

Amortization of capital assets 5,100 5,110 

Unit based compensation 4,098 3,076 

Noncontrolling interest (58) – 

Future income taxes (Note 9) (64,088) (18,692) 

Other (3,940) (141) 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 1,336,976 831 

1,281,682 (2,255) 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales (Note 19) (7,623) (2,620) 

Changes in noncash working capital (Note 20) 6,181 (11,879) 

Cash inflow from operations 172,767 136,007 

Financing 

Exercise of trust unit options (Note 11d) 4,293 4,053 

Issue of trust units – 18,079 

Distributions paid to Unitholders (129,357) (131,132) 

Distributions on Class A preference shares (8,460) (11,849) 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholders 2,767 4,948 

Units purchased for cancellation (6,603) – 

Issuance of longterm debt and increase in bank indebtedness 87,726 97,294 

Repayment of longterm debt and bank indebtedness (85,731) (68,303) 

Restricted cash (122) 1,962 

(135,487) (84,948) 

Investing 

Purchase of capital assets (6,345) (7,842) 

Acquisitions (Note 6) (1,842) (33,400) 

(8,187) (41,242) 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances 2,691 707 

Net cash inflow 31,784 10,524 

Cash, beginning of year 27,310 16,786 

Cash, end of year $ 59,094 $ 27,310 

Supplemental information 

Interest paid $ 4,009 $ 5,545 

Income taxes paid $ 1,153 $ 1,251 

Supplemental disclosure relating to noncash financing and investing activities 

Acquisition of capital assets through lease inducements $ – $ 2,817 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended March 31, 2009
 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit amounts)
 

NOTE 1	 ORGANIZATION 
Just Energy Income Fund (“Just Energy” or the “Fund”) which was formerly known as Energy Savings Income Fund changed its 

name effective June 1, 2009. 

Just Energy is an openended, limitedpurpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold securities and to 

distribute the income of its directly or indirectly owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Ontario Energy Savings L.P. (“OESLP”), 

Energy Savings (Manitoba) L.P. (“ESMLP”), Energy Savings (Quebec) L.P. (“ESPQ”), ES (B.C.) Limited Partnership (“ESBC”), Alberta 

Energy Savings L.P. (“AESLP”), Just Energy Illinois Corp. (“JE Illinois”), New York Energy Savings Corp. (“NYESC”), Just Energy 

Indiana Corp. (“JE Indiana”), Just Energy Texas L.P. (“JE Texas”) and Newten Home Comfort L.P. (“NHCLP”) (collectively the 

“Energy Savings Group”). 

NOTE 2	 OPERATIONS 
The Just Energy Group 

Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under longterm 

fixedprice and priceprotected contracts. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixedprice or priceprotected 

program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers offset their exposure to changes in the price of these 

essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the difference 

between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the 

associated volumes from its suppliers. Just Energy also has environmentally friendly offerings of natural gas and electricity through 

its Green Energy Option (“GEO”) program. 

NOTE 3	 (I) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(a) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

(“GAAP”), and include the accounts of Just Energy Income Fund and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries and affiliates. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to be 

cash equivalents. 

(c) Unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues 

Unbilled revenues are stated at estimated realizable value and result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by 

Just Energy to local distribution companies (“LDCs”). Accrued gas accounts payable represents the obligation to the LDCs with 

respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered to the LDCs. 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections 

from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues. 

Due to the seasonality of our operations, during the winter months, customers will have consumed more than what was delivered 

resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer months, customers will have 

consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues. 

These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba and Quebec gas markets. 

(d) Gas in storage 

Gas in storage primarily represents the gas delivered to the LDCs in the states of Illinois, Indiana and New York. The balance will 

fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. Injections typically occur from April through November and withdrawals 

occur from December through March. 

In addition, a portion of the gas in storage relates to operations in the Province of Alberta. In Alberta, there is a month to month 

carryover, which represents the difference between the gas delivered to the LDC within a month and customer consumption. The 

delivery volumes in the following month are adjusted accordingly. 

Gas in storage is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
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(e) Inventory 

Inventory, comprising water heaters, is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

(f) Capital assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, with the half year rule 

applied to acquisitions, as follows. 

Asset Basis Rate 

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20% 

Office equipment Declining balance 20% 

Computer equipment Declining balance 30% 

Computer software Declining balance 100% 

Commodity billing and settlement systems Straight line 5 years 

Water heaters Straight line 15 years 

Leasehold improvements Straight line Term of lease 

Capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 

asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of 

an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset 

exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the 

asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. 

(g) Asset retirement obligations 

Asset retirement obligations, including any restoration costs required in connection with leased assets or properties, are recognized 

at fair value in the period in which the obligations are incurred and a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. Just Energy did 

not have any such obligations outstanding for the years ended March 31, 2009 and 2008. 

(h) Goodwill 

Goodwill, reflecting the excess of the acquisition and incremental costs over the fair value of assets purchased by the Fund, is not 

amortized. The carrying amount of goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps; in the first step the carrying 

amount of the reporting unit including goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit including 

goodwill exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and the second step of the 

impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which 

case the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the 

impairment loss, if any. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined 

in a business combination. 

(i) Gas contracts 

Gas contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition of 

various gas contracts. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life. The Fund regularly evaluates 

existing gas contracts including the estimates of useful lives. 

(j) Electricity contracts 

Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition 

of various electricity contracts. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life. The Fund regularly 

evaluates existing electricity contracts including the estimates of useful lives. 

(k) Other assets (liabilities) – current/long term, change in fair value of derivative instruments and other comprehensive 

income (loss) 

Just Energy’s various derivative instruments have been accounted for using Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) 

Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement. Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the 

utilization of hedge accounting. In accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges, the Fund is amortizing the accumulated 

gains and losses to June 30, 2008, from other comprehensive income in the same period in which the original hedged item affects 

the Statement of Operations. No retrospective restatement is required for this change. The derivatives are measured at fair value and 

booked to the consolidated balance sheets. Effective July 1, 2008, all changes in fair value between periods are booked to change in 

fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 
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Prior to July 1, 2008, financial instruments that met hedging requirements were accounted for under CICA Handbook Section 3865, 

Hedges. For derivative instruments accounted for under CICA Handbook Section 3865, Just Energy formally documented the 

relationship between hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 

undertaking various hedge transactions. This process included linking all derivative financial instruments to anticipated transactions. 

Just Energy also formally assessed, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative financial 

instruments that were used in hedging transactions were highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items. 

The derivatives were measured at fair value and booked to the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in fair value between periods 

were booked to other comprehensive income for the effective portion of the hedge with the remaining change being booked to 

change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixedprice electricity sales by entering into fixed for floating 

electricity swap contracts and physical forward contracts, heat rate swap contracts and financial and physical forward gas contracts 

(to fulfill obligations under the heat rate swaps) with electricity and natural gas suppliers. These swaps and forwards are accounted 

for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855. Prior to July 1, 2008, they were accounted for in accordance with CICA 

Handbook Section 3865 and, in some limited circumstances, CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixedprice gas contracts by entering into a combination of physical 

gas forwards, financial gas forwards, physical transportation forwards and option contracts. Physical gas forwards and transportation 

forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855. Prior to July 1, 2008, they were accounted for in 

accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3865. Option contracts and financial gas forwards are accounted for in accordance 

with CICA Handbook Section 3855. The premiums and settlements for these derivative instruments are recognized in cost of sales, 

when incurred. 

Just Energy enters into hedges for its foreign exchange risk relating to its anticipated repatriation of U.S. denominated currency by 

entering into foreign exchange forward contracts with its lender. Since April 1, 2007, Just Energy has accounted for these forward 

contracts in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855 by recording them on the consolidated balance sheet as either other 

assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

(l) Derivative instruments 

Electricity: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide electricity at fixed prices (“customer electricity contracts”). 

Customer electricity contracts include requirements contracts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes at fixed prices. The 

customer electricity contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of electricity and consumption. To reduce its exposure 

to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition of electricity at floating rates, Just Energy uses electricity derivative 

contracts (“electricity derivative contracts”). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed for floating swaps, physical electricity 

forward contracts or a combination of heat rate swaps and physical or financial forward gas contracts. 

Just Energy agrees to exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of 

electricity for a specified time frame in the fixedforfloating contract arrangement. Just Energy takes title to electricity at a fixed 

price for scheduling into the power grid under the forward contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay for certain quantities of power 

based on the floating price of natural gas under heat rate swaps. In order to cover the floating price of gas under these 

arrangements, prices for gas are fixed through either physical or financial forward gas contracts. These contracts are expected to be 

effective as economic hedges of the electricity price exposure. Just Energy continues to monitor its effective hedging relationship 

between retail consumption and its supply contracts and prior to July 1, 2008, after which the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge 

accounting, evaluated the effectiveness of this relationship on a quarterly basis to meet the criteria for hedge accounting. 

The fair value of the electricity derivative contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value being 

recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to July 1, 2008, the 

changes in the fair value were recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement was effective 

with the remainder recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any electricity derivative contracts that did not qualify 

for hedge accounting or were dedesignated as a hedge were recorded at fair market value with the changes in fair value recorded 

in current period income as a component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. 
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Any gains or losses accumulated up to the date that the electricity derivative contract was terminated or dedesignated as a hedge 

were deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) then recorded in cost of sales when the hedged customer 

electricity contract affected income. 

Gas: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide gas at fixed prices (“customer gas contracts”). The customer gas 

contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of gas and consumption. To reduce its exposure to movements in 

commodity prices and usage, Just Energy uses gas physical and financial contracts (“gas supply contracts”). These gas supply 

contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the gas price exposure. 

Just Energy continues to monitor its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and its supply contracts, and prior to 

July 1, 2008, after which the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting, evaluated the effectiveness of this relationship on a 

quarterly basis to meet the criteria for hedge accounting. 

Just Energy uses physical forwards, transportation forwards (together “physical gas supply contracts”) and other gas financial 

instruments to fix the price of its gas supply. Under the physical gas supply contracts, Just Energy agrees to pay a specified price per 

volume of gas or transportation. Other financial instruments comprise financial puts and calls that fix the price of gas in jurisdictions 

where Just Energy has scheduling responsibilities and therefore is exposed to commodity price risk on volumes above or below its 

base supply. 

The fair value of physical gas contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in the fair value being recorded in 

change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. Prior to July 1, 2008, the changes were 

recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge measurement was effective with the remainder recorded in 

change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any physical gas contract that did not qualify for hedge accounting or was dedesignated 

as an accounting hedge together with the gas financial instruments were valued at fair market value with the changes in fair value 

recorded in current period income as a component of change in fair value of derivative instruments. Any gains or losses accumulated 

up to the date that the physical gas supply contract was terminated or dedesignated as a hedge were deferred in AOCI then recorded 

in cost of sales when the hedged customer gas contract affected income. 

Foreign exchange: 

To reduce its exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates, Just Energy uses foreign exchange forwards (“foreign exchange 

contracts”). These foreign exchange contracts were expected to be effective as hedges of the anticipated cross border cash flow but 

were found to not be effective under GAAP accounting requirements during fiscal 2007. 

Up until September 30, 2006, unrealized gains on foreign exchange contracts up to the date of dedesignation of the hedging 

relationship were deferred to be recognized over the term of the contract based on the timing of the underlying hedged 

transactions. As of December 31, 2006, these derivative financial instruments have been recorded on the balance sheet as either 

other assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in income as other income (expense). 

The deferred gain was reclassified to AOCI as of April 1, 2007. 

(m) Revenue recognition 

Just Energy delivers gas and/or electricity to enduse customers who have entered into longterm fixedprice contracts. Revenue is 

recognized when the commodity is consumed by the enduse customer or sold to third parties. The Fund assumes credit risk in only 

three jurisdictions – Alberta, Illinois and Texas, where credit review processes are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer. 

Just Energy recognizes revenue from the monthly rental and sale of water heaters. 

(n) Marketing expenses 

Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in the 

period incurred. 
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(o) Foreign currency translation 

The operations of the Fund’s U.S.based subsidiaries are selfsustaining operations. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of foreign 

subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are 

translated at the average rate of exchange for the period. The resulting gains and losses are accumulated as a component of 

Unitholders’ equity within AOCI. 

(p) Per unit amounts 

The computation of income per unit is based on the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 

per unit is computed in a similar way to basic earnings per unit except that the weighted average units outstanding are increased to 

include additional units assuming the exercise of unit options, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants, if dilutive. 

(q) Unit based compensation plans 

The Fund accounts for all of its unit based compensation awards using the fair value based method. 

Awards are valued at grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying unit and other 

measurement assumptions. Compensation for awards without performance conditions is recognized as an expense and a credit to 

contributed surplus over the related vesting period of the awards. Compensation for awards with performance conditions is 

recognized based on management’s best estimate of whether the performance condition will be achieved. 

When options and other unit based compensation awards are exercised or exchanged, the amounts previously credited to 

contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Unitholders’ equity. The amount of cash, if any, received from participants is also 

credited to Unitholders’ equity. 

(r) Employee future benefits 

Just Energy established a longterm incentive plan (the “Plan”) for all permanent fulltime and parttime Canadian employees 

(working more than 20 hours per week) for its affiliates and subsidiaries. The plan consists of two components, a Deferred Profit 

Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan (“EPSP”). For participants of the DPSP, Just Energy contributes an 

amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up 

to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base earnings towards the purchase of trust units of the Fund, on a matching 

one for one basis. 

Participation in either plan is voluntary. The plan has a twoyear vesting period beginning from the later of the plan’s effective date 

and the employee’s starting date. During the year, Just Energy contributed $739 (2008 – $647) to both plans, which was paid in full 

during the year. 

(s) Exchangeable securities 

Just Energy follows the recommendations of the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) relating to the presentation of exchangeable 

securities issued by subsidiaries of income funds. The recommendations require that the exchangeable securities issued by a 

subsidiary of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheet of the income fund as a part of Unitholders’ equity if 

the following criteria have been met: 

• the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitled to receive distributions of earnings economically equivalent to distributions 

received on units of the income fund; and 

• the exchangeable securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of the income fund as a result of the passage of 

fixed periods of time or the nontransferability to third parties of the exchangeable securities without first exchanging them for 

units of the income fund. 

The Class A preference shares meet these criteria and have been classified as Unitholders’ equity. In addition, all distributions paid to 

the Class A preference shareholders must be recorded in Unitholders’ equity, net of tax. The management incentive program, which 

is a bonus equal to the distribution amount received by a Unitholder, is additional compensation to senior management of Ontario 

Energy Savings Corp. (“OESC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fund. 

(t) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 

notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In particular, valuation techniques such as those used in the preparation of 

fair values are significantly affected by the assumptions used and the amount and timing of estimates. The aggregate fair value 

amounts represent pointintime estimates only and should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the 

supply contracts. 
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(u) Income taxes 

The Fund is a taxable entity under the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is taxable on income that is not distributed or distributable to 

the Fund’s Unitholders. Payments made between the Canadian operating entities and the Fund ultimately transfer both current and 

future income tax liabilities to the Unitholders. The future income tax liability associated with Canadian assets recorded on the 

balance sheet is recovered over time through these payments. 

Effective January 1, 2011, the Fund will be subject to a Specified Investment FlowThrough (“SIFT”) entities tax on distributions of 

Canadian taxable income that has not been subject to a Canadian corporate income tax in the Canadian operating entities. 

Therefore, the future tax asset or liability associated with Canadian assets recorded on the balance sheet as at that date will be 

realized over time as the temporary differences between the carrying value of assets in the consolidated financial statements and 

their respective tax bases are realized. Current Canadian income taxes will be accrued for at that time to the extent that there is 

taxable income in the Fund or its underlying operating entities. 

The U.S.based corporate subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income determined under U.S. income tax 

rules and regulations. As the U.S. subsidiaries had combined operating losses for tax purposes at March 31, 2009, no provision for 

current U.S. income tax has been made by those U.S. entities. 

The Fund follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 

recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets 

and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates. 

A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income tax asset if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the 

foreseeable future. The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is 

recognized in income during the period that the change occurs. 

(II) Adoption of new accounting standards 
On April 1, 2008, the Fund adopted three new accounting standards that were issued by CICA; Handbook Section 1535, Capital 

Disclosures; Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures; and Handbook Section 3863, Financial Instruments – 

Presentation. Just Energy adopted these standards prospectively as required by the standards. 

Capital Disclosures 

Section 1535 requires disclosure of information related to the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. In addition, 

disclosures include whether externally imposed capital requirements have been complied with. As this standard only addresses 

disclosure requirements, there is no impact on the financial position of the Fund (Note 13). 

Financial Instruments – Disclosures and Financial Instruments – Presentation 

Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures and Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation, which replace Section 3861, 

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation, increase the emphasis on the risks associated with both recognized and 

unrecognized financial instruments and how those risks are managed. The new presentation standards carry forward the former 

presentation requirements. As this standard only addresses presentation and disclosure requirements, there is no impact on the 

financial position of the Fund (Note 12). 

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

On January 20, 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee (“EIC”) of the CICA approved an abstract (EIC 173, Credit Risk and the 

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities), which clarifies that the company’s own credit risk and the credit risk of 

the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair value of derivative instruments. EIC 173 is to be applied 

retrospectively without restatement of prior periods to all financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in interim and annual 

financial statements for periods ending on or after the date of issuance of this abstract. The Fund incorporated the provisions of 

EIC 173 in the current year on a retrospective basis without restatement of prior periods and recorded an adjustment to increase 

opening accumulated earnings of $2,964. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 62 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(III) Recently issued accounting standards 
The following are the new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the Fund on the effective date. 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

As of April 1, 2009, the Fund will be required to adopt CICA Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which 

establishes revised standards for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The Fund 

has not yet determined the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 

Business Combinations 

In October 2008, the CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations (“CICA 1582”), concurrently with CICA 

Handbook Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements (“CICA 1601”), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Noncontrolling 

Interest (“CICA 1602”). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards 

for the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than noncontrolling interests. CICA 1602 establishes 

guidance for the treatment of noncontrolling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. These new 

standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Fund has not yet determined the impact of these 

standards on its consolidated financial statements. 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

In February 2008, CICA announced that GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. 

Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1, 2011, and intends to issue its first interim financial statement under IFRS for the 

threemonth period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31, 2012. 

Just Energy has identified differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to the Fund and an initial assessment has been 

made of the impact of the required changes to accounting systems, business processes, and requirements for personnel training and 

development. Based on the initial assessment of the differences applicable to the Fund, a project team was assembled and a 

conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS. 

As part of the conversion plan, the Fund is in the process of analyzing the detailed impacts of these identified differences and 

developing solutions to bridge these differences. Just Energy is currently on target with its conversion plan. 

NOTE 4	 SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS 
Just Energy’s operations are seasonal. Gas consumption by customers is typically highest in October through March and lowest in 

April through September. Electricity consumption is typically highest in January through March and July through September. 

Electricity consumption is lowest in October through December and April through June. 

NOTE 5	 RESTRICTED CASH/CUSTOMER REBATES PAYABLE 
Restricted cash and customer rebates payable represent, (i) funds held as security for payment of certain monthly charges in Texas, 

and (ii) rebate monies received from LDCs in Ontario as provided by the Independent Electricity System Operator (“IESO”). 

(i) ESTC is required to post collateral to wire owners to secure payment of future expected charges under the Texas Electric Choice as 

required by the Public Utility Commission of Texas. 

(ii) OESLP is obligated to disperse the monies to eligible enduse customers in accordance with the Ontario Power Generation Rebate 

as part of OESLP’s Retailer License conditions. 
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NOTE 6 ACQUISITIONS 
(a) Acquisition of CEG Energy Options Inc.’s (“CEG”) natural gas customers 

On August 14, 2008, Just Energy purchased substantially all of the commercial and residential customer contracts of CEG in British 

Columbia. CEG was a Western Canada marketer of natural gas wholly owned by SemCanada Energy Company, both of which filed 

for creditor protection under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act on July 30, 2008. The customer contracts had annualized 

volumes of approximately 4.9 million GJ. 

The purchase price has been allocated as follows: 

Net assets acquired 

Gas contracts $ 1,842 

Consideration 

Cash $ 1,842 

The gas contracts will be amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of the acquisition was 20 months. 

(b) Partnership with Newten Home Comfort Inc. 

On July 18, 2008, the Fund, through its affiliates, entered into a limited partnership to form Newten Home Comfort L.P., a business 

involving the marketing, leasing, sale, and installation of tankless and high efficiency water heaters. The Fund will hold 

approximately an 80% equity interest and will invest up to $1,400 as equity and up to $1,850 as convertible debt financing in 

Newten Home Comfort L.P. As at March 31, 2009, the Fund had invested $1,000 as equity. 

(c) Acquisition of Just Energy Texas L.P. 

During the prior fiscal year, the Fund completed the acquisition of Just Energy Texas L.P., including all of its electricity contracts. The 

aggregate cost of this transaction, including transaction costs, was US$34,165 including cash acquired in the amount of US$3,373. 

Pursuant to the agreement, the Fund acquired approximately 1.3 million megawatt hours (MWh) of contracted customer usage. The 

acquisition was funded through a credit facility drawdown, of which $18,079 (US$18,362) including interest of $356 (US$362) was 

returned to the Fund on October 9, 2007, in exchange for 1,169,399 units of the Fund issued from treasury. The units are subject to 

the terms of an escrow agreement for the benefit of the Just Energy Texas L.P. vendors and are being released to the vendors over a 

threeyear period. 

The purchase price was allocated as follows: 

Net assets acquired 

Working capital (including cash of US$3,373, CAD$3,659) 

Electricity contracts 

Goodwill 

Capital assets 

Longterm liabilities 

Consideration 

Cash 

US$ CAD$ 

$ 

$ 

7,236 

11,400 

17,826 

18 

(2,315) 

34,165 

$ 

$ 

7,849 

12,365 

19,336 

20 

(2,511) 

37,059 

$ 34,165 $ 37,059 

The acquisition of Just Energy Texas L.P. was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Fund allocated the 

purchase price to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition. 

The electricity contracts acquired are amortized over the average estimated remaining life of the contracts. During the first quarter 

of fiscal 2009, upon finalization of the purchase price allocation, there was an increase of $3,457 (US$3,187) in intangible assets 

relating to electricity contracts and a corresponding reduction in goodwill. 
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NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS 
Accumulated Net book 

2009 Cost amortization value 

Furniture and fixtures $ 3,770 $ 1,889 $ 1,881 

Office equipment 11,119 3,959 7,160 

Computer equipment 5,387 2,543 2,844 

Computer software 2,565 1,750 815 

Commodity billing and settlement system 6,993 6,654 339 

Water heaters 2,324 77 2,247 

Leasehold improvements 7,603 2,918 4,685 

$ 39,761 $ 19,790 $ 19,971 

Accumulated Net book 
2008 Cost amortization value 

Furniture and fixtures $ 3,345 $ 1,444 $ 1,901 

Office equipment 9,051 2,433 6,618 

Computer equipment 3,145 2,160 985 

Computer software 1,196 603 593 

Commodity billing and settlement system 6,563 5,477 1,086 

Leasehold improvements 7,451 1,997 5,454 

$ 30,751 $ 14,114 $ 16,637 

NOTE 8	 LONGTERM DEBT 
A credit facility in the amount of $170,000 is available to Just Energy to meet working capital requirements. Interest is payable on 

outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers’ Acceptance, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate. Under the terms 

of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers’ Acceptances and LIBOR advances at stamping fees of 

1.5%, prime rate advances at bank prime plus 0.5%, and letters of credit at 1.5%. As at March 31, 2009, the Canadian prime rate 

was 2.5% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2009, Just Energy had drawn $76,500 (2008 – $67,583) against the 

facility and total letters of credit outstanding amounted to $8,459 (2008 – $8,149). Just Energy has $85,041 of the facility 

remaining for future working capital and security requirements. Just Energy’s obligations under the credit facility are supported by 

guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a pledge of the assets of Just Energy and the majority of its operating 

subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at 

March 31, 2009 and 2008, all of these covenants have been met. Interest expense for the year ended March 31, 2009, was $3,833 

(2008 – $5,346). Interest is expensed at the effective interest rate. 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 65 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 9	 INCOME TAXES 
The Fund is a mutual fund trust for income tax purposes and will be taxed as a SIFT for years commencing after 2010. As such, prior 

to January 1, 2011, the Fund is only subject to current income taxes on any taxable income not distributed to Unitholders. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2010, the Fund will be subject to current income taxes on any taxable income not distributed to 

Unitholders and on all taxable income earned from Canadian corporate and flowthrough subsidiaries, other than dividends from 

Canadian corporate subsidiaries distributed to Unitholders. If the Fund’s equity capital grows beyond certain dollar limits prior to 

January 1, 2011, the Fund would become a SIFT and would commence in that year being subject to tax on distributed income. The 

Fund expects that its distributed income will not be subject to tax prior to 2011 and intends to distribute all its taxable income earned 

prior to then. Accordingly, the Fund has not provided for future income taxes on its temporary differences and those of its flow

through subsidiary trust and partnerships expected to reverse prior to 2011 as it is considered taxexempt for accounting purposes. 

A valuation allowance has been provided against future tax assets of certain Canadian and foreign subsidiaries where the Fund has 

determined that it is more likely than not that those future tax assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. The valuation 

allowance may be reduced in future periods if the Fund determines that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of those future 

tax assets will be realized. 

Canadianbased corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 33% (2008 – 36%). 

The following table reconciles the difference between the income taxes that would result solely by applying statutory tax rates to the 

pretax income for Just Energy and the income tax provision in the financial statements. 

2009 2008 

Income before income tax $ (1,164,991) $ 138,260 

Income tax expense at the combined basic rate of 33% (2008 – 36%) 

Taxes on income attributable to Unitholders 

Unrecognized tax benefit on mark to market losses on derivative instruments 

Tax impact of corporate reorganization 

Benefit of U.S. tax losses and other tax assets not previously recognized 

Nondeductible expenses 

(384,448) 

(49,294) 

385,070 

(3,729) 

(5,199) 

140 

49,774 

(49,883) 

– 

(7,021) 

(7,371) 

– 

Recovery of income tax $ (57,460) $ (14,501) 

Components of Just Energy’s income tax recovery are as follows: 

Income tax provision (recovery) 

Amount credited to Unitholders’ equity 

$ 3,861 

2,767 

$ (757) 

4,948 

Current income tax provision 

Future tax recovery 

6,628 

(64,088) 

4,191 

(18,692) 

Recovery of income tax $ (57,460) $ (14,501) 

Components of the Fund’s net future income tax liability are as follows: 

Partnership income deferred for tax purposes and book carrying amount 

of investments in partnerships in excess of tax cost 

Excess of tax basis over book basis for U.S. operations 

Mark to market gains (losses) on derivative instruments 

$ 598 

(13,037) 

(140,047) 

$ 4,055 

(8,767) 

14,750 

Less: valuation allowance 

(152,486) 

152,486 

10,038 

– 

Future income tax liabilities (net) $ – $ 10,038 

U.S.based corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 40% (2008 – 40%). 

At March 31, 2009, the U.S. subsidiaries of Just Energy had $3,147 (US$2,495) in combined operating losses for tax purposes, all of 

which will expire by 2026. The tax benefit of these losses has been recognized in earnings, reducing the future taxes related to other 

comprehensive income (“OCI”) of the U.S. subsidiaries in these financial statements. 
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NOTE 10 UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL 
Trust units of the Fund 

An unlimited number of units may be issued. Each unit is transferable, voting and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest 

in any distributions from the Fund whether of net income, net realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the net assets of the 

Fund in the event of termination or windingup of the Fund. 

The Fund intends to make distributions to its Unitholders based on the cash receipts of the Fund, excluding proceeds from the 

issuance of additional Fund units, adjusted for costs and expense of the Fund, the amount which may be paid by the Fund in 

connection with any cash redemptions or repurchases of units and any other amount that the Board of Directors considers necessary 

to provide for the payment of any costs which have been or will be incurred in the activities and operations of the Fund. The Fund’s 

intention is for Unitholders of record on the 15th day of each month to receive distributions at the end of the month, excluding any 

Special Distributions. 

Class A preference shares of OESC 

The terms of the unlimited Class A preference shares of OESC are nonvoting, noncumulative and exchangeable into trust units in 

accordance with the OESC shareholders’ agreement as restated and amended, with no priority on dissolution. Pursuant to the 

amended and restated Declaration of Trust which governs the Fund, the holders of Class A preference shares are entitled to vote in 

all votes of Unitholders as if they were the holders of the number of units that they would receive if they exercised their shareholder 

exchange rights. Class A preference shareholders have equal entitlement to distributions from the Fund as Unitholders. 

2009 2008 

Issued and outstanding Units/Shares Units/Shares 

Trust units 

Balance, beginning of year 102,152,194 $ 341,337 98,082,535 $ 306,387 

Options exercised 355,000 4,840 345,833 4,556 

Unit appreciation rights exchanged 65,036 938 17,868 237 

Distribution reinvestment plan 1,697,394 18,863 536,559 7,078 

Units issued 1,336,115 22,313 1,169,399 18,079 

Units cancelled (909,700) (6,603) – – 

Exchanged from Class A preference shares 1,442,484 3,606 2,000,000 5,000 

Balance, end of year 106,138,523 385,294 102,152,194 341,337 

Class A preference shares 

Balance, beginning of year 6,706,212 16,766 8,706,212 21,766 

Exchanged into units (1,442,484) (3,606) (2,000,000) (5,000) 

Balance, end of year 5,263,728 13,160 6,706,212 16,766 

Unitholders’ capital, end of year 111,402,251 $ 398,454 108,858,406 $ 358,103 

Distribution reinvestment program 

Under the Fund’s distribution reinvestment program (“DRIP”), Unitholders holding a minimum of 100 units can elect to receive their 

distributions (both regular and special) in units rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the units for 

five trading days preceding the applicable distribution payment date, providing the units are issued from treasury and not purchased 

on the open market. 

Units cancelled 

During the year, the Fund obtained approval from its Board of Directors to make a normal course issuer bid to purchase up to 

9,000,000 units for the 12month period commencing November 21, 2008 and ending November 20, 2009. A maximum of 

44,754 units can be purchased during any trading day. 

During the year, the Fund purchased and cancelled 909,700 units for a cash consideration of $6,603. 

Units issued 

During the year, the Fund issued 1,336,115 units for the 50% portion of the Special Distribution declared, to be paid in units, in the 

prior fiscal year. 
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NOTE 11 UNIT BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 
(a) Unit option plan 

The Fund grants awards under its 2001 unit option plan to directors, officers, fulltime employees and service providers (non

employees) of Just Energy. In accordance with the unit option plan, the Fund may grant options to a maximum of 11,300,000 units. 

As at March 31, 2009, there were 758,666 options still available for grant under the plan. Of the options issued, 555,500 options 

remain outstanding at yearend. The exercise price of the unit options equals the closing market price of the Fund’s units on the last 

business day preceding the grant date. The unit options will vest over periods ranging from three to five years from the grant date 

and expire after five or ten years from the grant date. 

A summary of the changes in the Fund’s option plan during the year and status at March 31, 2009, is outlined below. 

Weighted Weighted 
average average 

Outstanding Range of exercise grant date 
options exercise prices price1 fair value2 

Balance, beginning of year 970,500 $ 11.25 – $18.70 $ 14.64 

Granted 50,000 12.70 12.70 $ 0.91 

Forfeited/cancelled (110,000) 15.11 – 17.15 15.77 

Exercised (355,000) 11.25 – 12.17 12.09 

Balance, end of year 555,500 $ 11.25 – $18.70 $ 15.88 

1 The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted. 

2 The weighted average grant date fair value is calculated by dividing the fair value of options granted by the number of options granted. 

2009 Options outstanding Options exercisable 

Weighted 
average Weighted Weighted 

remaining average average 
Number contractual exercise Number exercise 

Range of exercise prices outstanding life price exercisable price 

$12.69 – $15.63 330,500 1.95 $ 15.05 158,700 $ 15.55 

$15.90 – $18.70 225,000 1.76 17.10 154,000 17.08 

Balance, end of year 555,500 1.88 $ 15.88 312,700 $ 16.30 

2008 Options outstanding Options exercisable 

Weighted 
average Weighted Weighted 

remaining average average 
Number contractual exercise Number exercise 

Range of exercise prices outstanding life price exercisable price 

$11.25 – $12.69 360,000 0.53 $ 12.10 356,000 $ 12.09 

$15.09 – $15.63 335,500 2.72 15.46 112,600 15.61 

$15.90 – $18.70 275,000 2.76 16.99 84,000 17.10 

Balance, end of year 970,500 1.92 $ 14.64 552,600 $ 13.57 

Options available for grant 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year 698,666 812,666 

Add: cancelled/forfeited during the year 110,000 44,000 

Less: granted during the year (50,000) (158,000) 

Balance, end of year 758,666 698,666 
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The Fund uses a binomial option pricing model to estimate the fair values. The binomial model was chosen because of the yield 

associated with the units. Fair values of employee unit options are estimated at grant date. Fair values of nonemployee unit options 

are estimated and revalued each reporting period until a measurement date is achieved. The following weighted average assumptions 

have been used in the valuation for fiscal 2009: 

Riskfree rate 3.13% 

Expected volatility 27.31% 

Expected life 5 years 

Expected distributions $1.24 per year 

(b) Unit appreciation rights 

The Fund grants awards under its 2004 unit appreciation rights (“UARs”) plan to senior officers, employees and service providers of 

its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paid UARs. In accordance with the unit appreciation rights plan, the Fund may grant 

UARs to a maximum of 2,000,000. As at March 31, 2009, there were 374,668 UARs still available for grant under the plan. Of the 

UARs issued, 1,388,896 UARs remain outstanding at March 31, 2009. Except as otherwise provided (i) the UARs vest from one to 

five years from the grant date providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the UAR grantee continues as a senior officer, 

employee or service provider of the Fund or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the UARs expire no later than ten years from the grant date; 

(iii) a holder of UARs is entitled to distributions as if a UAR were a unit; and (iv) when vested, the holder of a UAR may exchange 

one UAR for one unit. 

UARs available for grant 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year 804,170 78,277 

Less: granted during the year (455,215) (284,704) 

Add: increase in UARs available for grant – 1,000,000 

Add: cancelled/forfeited during the year 25,713 10,597 

Balance, end of year 374,668 804,170 

(c) Deferred unit grants 

The Fund grants awards under its 2004 Directors’ deferred compensation plan to all independent directors on the basis each 

director is required to annually receive $15 of his compensation entitlement in deferred unit grants (“DUGs”) and may elect to 

receive all or any portion of the balance of his annual compensation in DUGs. In accordance with the deferred compensation plan, 

the Fund may grant DUGs to a maximum of 100,000. The DUGs vest on the earlier of the date of the Director’s resignation or three 

years following the date of grant and expire ten years following the date of grant. As of March 31, 2009, there were 31,568 DUGs 

available for grant under the plan. Of the DUGs issued, 62,530 DUGs remain outstanding at March 31, 2009. 

DUGs available for grant 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year 56,537 71,143 

Less: granted during the year (24,969) (14,606) 

Balance, end of year 31,568 56,537 

(d) Contributed surplus 

Amounts credited to contributed surplus include unit based compensation awards, UARs and DUGs. Amounts charged to contributed 

surplus are awards exercised during the year. 

Contributed surplus 2009 2008 

Balance, beginning of year $ 12,004 $ 9,633 

Add: unit based compensation awards 4,098 3,076 

noncash deferred unit grants distributions 55 35 

Less: unit based awards exercised (1,486) (740) 

Balance, end of year $ 14,671 $ 12,004 

Total amounts credited to Unitholders’ capital in respect of unit options and deferred unit grants exercised or exchanged during the 

year ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $5,778 (2008 – $4,793). 

Cash received from options exercised for the year ended March 31, 2009, amounted to $4,293 (2008 – $4,053). 
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NOTE 12 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(a) Fair value 

The Fund has a variety of gas and electricity supply contracts that are captured under CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial 

Instruments – Measurement and Recognition. Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose of 

these supply contracts in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. 

Management has estimated the value of electricity and gas swap and forward contracts using a discounted cash flow method which 

employs market forward curves that are either directly sourced from third parties or are developed internally based on third party 

market data. These curves can be volatile, thus leading to volatility in the mark to market values, but there is no impact to cash 

flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model using the applicable market forward curves and the implied 

volatility from other markettraded gas options. 

Effective July 1, 2008, the Fund ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on the Fund’s 

derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated statements of operations. Due to the commodity price volatility 

and size of the Fund, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility in the Fund’s earnings. 

The following table illustrates the (gains)/losses related to the Fund’s derivative financial instruments classified as heldfortrading, 

recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

For the year For the year For the year For the year 
ended ended ended ended 

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 
2009 2009 (USD) 2008 2008 (USD) 

Canada 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i) $ 223,191 $ n/a $ 5,535 $ n/a 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 527 n/a (854) n/a 

Options (iii) (4,847) n/a 530 n/a 

Physical gas forward contracts (iv) 771,300 n/a – n/a 

Transportation forward contracts (v) (5,059) n/a – n/a 

United States 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vi) 96,031 84,666 – – 

Physical electricity forwards (vii) 130,911 116,116 – – 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (viii) 5,249 4,730 39 42 

Renewable energy certificates (ix) (104) (68) (75) (75) 

Verified emissionreduction certificates (x) 8 – – – 

Options (xi) 790 1,068 (139) (264) 

Physical gas forward contracts (xii) 336,831 299,516 – – 

Transportation forward contracts (xiii) (6,252) (4,992) – – 

Fixed financial swaps (xiv) (242) (191) – – 

Heat rate swaps (xv) (251) (228) – – 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xvi) 978 n/a (4,772) n/a 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discontinued hedges (211,776) 3,244 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments $ 1,337,285 $ 3,508 
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The following table illustrates the (gains)/losses representing the ineffective portion of the Fund’s designated hedges prior to 

July 1, 2008, recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value of 

derivative instruments. 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

For the year For the year For the year For the year 
ended ended ended ended 

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 
2009 2009 (USD) 2008 2008 (USD) 

Canada 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i) $ (476) $ n/a $ (3,116) $ n/a 

United States 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vi) 167 164 439 423 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments (309) (2,677) 

Total change in fair value of derivative instruments $ 1,336,976 $ 831 

The following table illustrates the (gains)/losses related to the Fund’s designated hedges prior to July 1, 2008, recorded against other 

assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in other comprehensive income. 

Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

OCI – OCI – OCI – OCI –
 
For the year For the year For the year For the year
 

ended ended ended ended
 
March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31,
 

2009 2009 (USD) 2008 2008 (USD)
 

Canada 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i) $ (75,354) $ n/a $ 103,531 $ n/a 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) – n/a – n/a 

Options (iii) – n/a – n/a 

Physical gas forward contracts (iv) (313,071) n/a 40,317 n/a 

Transportation forward contracts (v) (5,958) n/a (3,164) n/a 

United States 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vi) (40,473) (39,808) (18,822) (18,745) 

Physical electricity forwards (vii) (30,573) (30,071) (13,811) (14,344) 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (viii) (4,743) (4,665) – – 

Renewable energy certificates (ix) – – – – 

Verified emissionreduction certificates (x) – – – – 

Options (xi) – – – – 

Physical gas forward contracts (xii) (124,760) (122,711) (43,133) (44,576) 

Transportation forward contracts (xiii) 7,022 6,907 – – 

Fixed financial swap (xiv) – – – – 

Heat rate swaps (xv) – – – – 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xvi) – n/a – n/a 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of discounted hedges (4,550) (3,244) 

Other comprehensive income $ (592,460) $ 61,674 

JUST ENERGY INCOME FUND 2009 ANNUAL REPORT 71 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes the nature of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

March 31, 2009. 

Other Other 
Other assets Other assets liabilities liabilities 

(current) (long term) (current) (long term) 

Canada 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i) $ – $ – $ 149,476 $ 158,289 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 94 251 – 23 

Options (iii) 792 23 237 997 

Physical gas forward contracts (iv) – – 198,329 103,734 

Transportation forward contracts (v) 787 2,160 927 163 

United States 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vi) – – 34,997 24,577 

Physical electricity forwards (vii) – – 48,242 41,456 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (viii) 19 213 366 – 

Renewable energy certificates (ix) 57 191 19 48 

Verified emissionreduction certificates (x) – – – – 

Options (xi) 395 – 204 1,349 

Physical gas forward contracts (xii) – – 84,010 69,627 

Transportation forward contracts (xiii) 4 – 961 1,457 

Fixed financial swaps (xiv) – 869 628 – 

Heat rate swaps (xv) 72 1,171 956 – 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xvi) 3,324 275 – – 

As at March 31, 2009 $ 5,544 $ 5,153 $ 519,352 $ 401,720 

The following tables summarize the nature of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements as at 

March 31, 2008. 

Other Other 
Other assets Other assets liabilities liabilities 

(current) (long term) (current) (long term) 

Canada 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i) $ 13,344 $ 12,517 $ 49,965 $ 139,695 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 222 632 – – 

Options (iii) – – 1,937 3,442 

Physical gas forward contracts (iv) 125,669 36,270 – 5,228 

Transportation forward contracts (v) 520 – 6,915 2,903 

United States 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vi) 1,117 232 – 3,939 

Physical electricity forwards (vii) 12,637 2,715 – – 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (viii) – – 43 – 

Renewable energy certificates (ix) 10 67 – – 

Verified emissionreduction certificates (x) – – – – 

Options (xi) 1,610 – 290 1,183 

Physical gas forward contracts (xii) 35,832 20,875 – – 

Transportation forward contracts (xiii) – – – – 

Fixed financial swaps (xiv) – – – – 

Heat rate swaps (xv) – – – – 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xvi) 2,325 2,252 – – 

As at March 31, 2008 $ 193,286 $ 75,560 $ 59,150 $ 156,390 
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The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held for trading as at March 31, 2009, to which the Fund 

is committed: 

Contact type 
Notional 
volume 

Total 
remaining 

volume Maturity date Fixed price 

Fair value 
favourable/ 

(unfavourable) 
Notional 

value 

Canada 

(i) Fixedforfloating 
electricity swaps* 

0.0001–35 
MWh 

13,464,104 
MWh 

April 1, 2009 – 
August 1, 2015 $55.24–$128.13 ($307,765) $1,012,783 

(ii) Renewable energy 
certificates 10–26,100 

MWh 
499,322 

MWh 
Dec. 31, 2009 – 

Dec. 31, 2014 $3.00–$9.00 $322 $2,284 

(iii) Options 46–40,500 
GJ/month 

8,711,942 
GJ 

April 30, 2009 – 
Feb. 28, 2014 $5.50–$13.20 ($419) $15,145 

(iv) Physical gas forward 
contracts 

0.14–4,809 
GJ/day 

155,443,652 
GJ 

April 30, 2009 – 
April 30, 2015 $3.56–$10.00 ($302,063) $1,240,440 

(v) Transportation 
forward contracts 

33–15,500 
GJ/day 

85,858,757 
GJ 

April 1, 2009 – 
October 31, 2013 $0.01–$1.68 $1,857 $79,189 

United States 

(vi) Fixedforfloating 
electricity swaps 

0.10–14.70 
MWh 

1,868,707 
MWh 

April 30, 2009 – 
March 31, 2014 

$54.24–$172.48 
(US$43.00–$136.75) 

($59,574) 
(US ($47,232)) 

$219,344 
(US$173,903) 

(vii) Physical electricity 
forwards 

1.0–25.0 
MWh 

3,437,488 
MWh 

April 1, 2009 – 
May 31, 2014 

$28.25–$139.06 
(US$22.40–$110.25) 

($89,698) 
(US ($71,116)) 

$300,023 
(US$237,868) 

(viii) Unforced capacity 1.1–112.4 214 April 30, 2009 – $378.39–$945.98 ($11) $165 
fixed physical contract MW Cap MW Cap April 30, 2009 (US$300–$750) (US ($(9)) (US$131) 

(viii) Unforced capacity 5–40 2,180 April 30, 2009 – $3,784–$10,091 ($123) $14,650 
forward contracts MW Cap MW Cap Nov. 30, 2012 (US$3,000–$8,000) (US ($97)) (US$11,165) 

(ix) Renewable energy 2,000–40,000 474,400 Dec. 31, 2009 – $5.80–$28.38 $181 $4,626 
certificates MWh MWh Dec. 31, 2013 (US$4.60–$22.50) (US$143) (US$3,668) 

(x) Verified emission 10,000 60,000 Dec. 31, 2009 – $10.41 $ – $624 
reduction certificates Tonnes Tonnes Dec. 31, 2012 (US$8.25) (US$ –) (US$495) 

(xi) Options 5–73,000 7,598,033 April 30, 2009 – $6.94–$17.41 ($1,158) $16,812 
mmBTU/month mmBTU May 31, 2013 (US$5.50–$13.80) (US ($919)) (US$13,329) 

(xii) Physical gas forward 5–4,207 47,425,538 April 30, 2009 – $4.10–$14.98 ($153,637) $509,151 
contracts mmBTU/day mmBTU April 30, 2014 (US$3.25–$11.88) (US ($121,808)) (US$403,672) 

(xiii) Transportation 
forward contracts 

380–10,500 
mmBTU/day 

33,370,625 
mmBTU 

April 1, 2009 – 
Jan. 31, 2013 

$0.01–$0.76 
(US$0.01–$0.60) 

($2,414) 
(US ($1,914)) 

$6,997 
(US$5,547) 

(xiv) Fixed financial swap 100–4,500 
mmBTU/day 

4,116,400 
mmBTU 

Nov. 30, 2009 – 
May 31, 2014 

$7.62–$9.13 
(US$6.04–$7.24) 

($241) 
(US$191) 

$33,871 
(US$26,854) 

(xv) Heat rate swaps 1–15 
MWh 

1,414,213 
MWh 

July 31, 2009 – 
May 31, 2014 

$30.63–$82.22 
(US$30.63–$65.19) 

$287 
(US$228) 

$90,149 
(US$71,292) 

(xvi)	 Foreign exchange $1,982–$2,276 n/a April 7, 2009 – $55,126 
forward contracts** (US$2,000) April 7, 2010 $0.99–$1.1381 $3,599 (US$52,000) 

* The electricity fixedforfloating contracts related to the Province of Alberta are predominantly loadfollowing, wherein the quantity of electricity
 
contained in the supply contract “follows” the usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notional volumes associated with these
 
contracts are estimates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also loadshaped fixedforfloating contracts in Ontario
 
wherein the quantity of electricity is established but varies throughout the term of the contracts.
 

** Hedge accounting was applied to most of these forwards up to September 30, 2006. However, the hedge was dedesignated and a loss of $195 for 
the year ended March 31, 2007, was recorded in other liabilities. As the required hedge accounting effectiveness was achieved for certain quarters of 
fiscal 2007, a $1,933 gain was deferred and recorded in AOCI and is being recognized in the Statement of Operations over the remaining term of 
each hedging relationship. 
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The following table summarizes the nature of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements. 

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008 

Loss on Loss on 
cash flow cash flow 
hedges hedges 

transferred transferred 
from other Unrealized from other Unrealized 

comprehensive gain recorded comprehensive gain recorded 
income to the in other income to the in other 
Statement of comprehensive Statement of comprehensive 
Operations income Operations income 

Canada 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (i) $ (19,208) $ 94,562 $ (93,999) $ (9,490) 

Physical gas forward contracts and transportation 

forward contracts (iv) (135,808) 454,837 (523,116) 485,965 

United States 

Fixedforfloating electricity swaps (vi) (13,826) 54,299 (53,562) 72,339 

Physical electricity forwards (vii) (30,659) 61,232 (87,416) 101,215 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (viii) – 4,743 – – 

Physical gas forward contracts and transportation 

forward contracts (xi) (26,184) 143,922 (165,012) 208,158 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gains of 

discontinued hedges (211,776) – 3,244 – 

Total realized and unrealized gains/(losses) $ (437,461) $ 813,595 $ (919,861) $ 858,187 

The estimated amortization of deferred gains and losses reported in AOCI that is expected to be amortized to net income within the 

next 12 months is a gain of $218,052. 

(b) Classification of financial assets and liabilities 

The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value or 

amortized cost. 

As at March 31, 2009 Carrying amount Fair value 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 66,703 $ 66,703 

Accounts receivable 249,480 249,480 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, customer rebates payable, 

management incentive program payable and unit distribution payable 184,809 184,809 

Longterm debt 76,500 76,500 

For the years ended 2009 

Interest expense on financial liabilities not held for trading $ 3,833 $ 5,346 

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, management incentive 

program payable and unit distribution payable approximate their fair value due to their shortterm liquidity. 

The carrying value of the longterm debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts at rates that 

vary with Bankers’ Acceptance, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate. 
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(c) Management of risks arising from financial instruments 

The risks associated with the Fund’s financial instruments are as follows: 

(i) Market risk 
Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or 

commodity. Components of market risk to which the Fund is exposed are discussed below. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.S. operations. 

A portion of Just Energy’s earnings is generated in U.S. dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the 

Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy’s earnings. Due to its growing operations 

in the U.S., Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure in the future to U.S. fluctuations than in prior years. 

The Fund may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of these foreign currencies, which could 

adversely affect operating results. 

With respect to translation exposure, as at March 31, 2009, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against the 

U.S. dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net income for the year ended March 31, 2009, would 

have been $20,295 higher/lower and other comprehensive income would have been $4,289 lower/higher. 

Interest rate risk 

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy’s current exposure 

to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. 

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. As such, the Fund does not believe that this 

longterm debt exposes it to material financial risks and has determined that there is no need to set out parameters to actively 

manage this risk. 

A 1% increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before taxes for the year ended 

March 31, 2009, of approximately $270. 

Commodity price risk 

Just Energy is exposed to market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements 

do not match actual customer requirements. Just Energy’s exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, including 

accuracy of the estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets. Just Energy 

enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to changes in commodity prices. The derivative instruments that are 

used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity demand in Canadian dollars and thereby fix margins 

such that Unitholder distributions can be appropriately established. Derivative instruments are generally transacted over the counter. 

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Just Energy since they have been transacted with a limited number 

of counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the contracts, Just Energy may not be able to 

realize the other asset balance recognized in the financial statements. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the 

above market risks could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. 

Other assets and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets represent the fair value of the derivative instruments. As a result 

of commodity volatility and the size of the Fund, annual swings in the mark to market on the Fund’s positions could have a 

significant impact on these balances. 

As at March 31, 2009, if the electricity prices had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, 

income before taxes for the year ended March 31, 2009, would have increased (decreased) by $90,661 ($90,366) primarily as a 

result of the change in the fair value of the Fund’s derivative instruments. 

As at March 31, 2009, if the natural gas prices had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming that all the other variables had remained 

constant, income before taxes for the year ended March 31, 2009, would have increased (decreased) by $121,149 ($120,219) 

primarily as a result of the change in the fair value of the Fund’s derivative instruments. 

Changes in gas and electricity prices will not significantly impact the Fund’s gross margin percentage due to its fixedprice contracts 

with its customers. 
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(ii) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to another 

party. Just Energy is exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Texas and Illinois, Just Energy has customer credit risk, and therefore, credit review processes have been implemented to 

perform credit evaluations of customers and manage customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their 

payments, it could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management factors default from 

credit risk in its margin expectations for Illinois, Texas and Alberta. 

As at March 31, 2009, accounts receivables from Alberta, Texas and Illinois with a carrying value of $17,022 (March 31, 2008 – 

$14,285) were past due but not doubtful. As at March 31, 2009, the aging of the accounts receivables from Alberta, Texas and 

Illinois was as follows. 

Current $ 44,745 

1–30 days 13,590 

31–60 days 6,591 

61–90 days 2,276 

Over 90 days 1,221 

$ 68,423 

For the year ended March 31, 2009, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

Balance, beginning of period $ 9,162 

Provision for doubtful accounts 13,887 

Bad debts written off (15,075) 

Others 683 

Balance, end of period $ 8,657 

For the remaining markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy’s 

customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no 

assurance that the LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual 

obligations. This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates thus impacting the 

related customer margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related Canadian dollar 

denominated distributions. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limits 

requires approval from the Board of Directors of OESC. The Risk Office and Risk Committee monitor current and potential credit 

exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the failure of a 

counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. 

As at March 31, 2009, the maximum credit risk exposure amounted to $3,617,478, representing the notional value of its derivative 

financial instruments and accounts receivable. 

(iii) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund manages this risk by monitoring 

detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling sixweek period, monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and quarterly 

forecasts for the following twoyear period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities. 

(iv) Supplier risk 
Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through longterm contracts entered into with 

various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity to its customers 

is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. Just Energy has 

discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $2,065 to accommodate for its counterparties’ risk of default. A significant portion 

of these gas and electricity purchases is from Shell Energy North America and its affiliates. 
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NOTE 13 CAPITAL DISCLOSURES 
Just Energy defines capital as Unitholders’ equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income) and longterm debt. The 

Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility between: 

(i) enabling it to operate efficiently; 

(ii) providing liquidity and access to capital for growth opportunities; and 

(iii) providing returns and generating predictable cash flow for distribution to Unitholders. 

The Fund manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 

management, but rather promotes year over year sustainable profitable growth. The Fund’s capital management objectives have 

remained unchanged from the prior year. The Fund is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other than financial 

covenants in its credit facility, and as at March 31, 2009, all of these covenants have been met. 

NOTE 14 INCOME (LOSS) PER UNIT 
2009 2008 

Basic income (loss) per unit 

Net income (loss) available to Unitholders $ (1,107,473) $ 152,761 

Weighted average number of units outstanding 104,841,000 98,830,000 

Weighted average number of Class A preference shares 5,623,000 8,701,000 

Basic units and shares outstanding 110,464,000 107,531,000 

Basic income (loss) per unit $ (10.03) $ 1.42 

Diluted income (loss) per unit 

Net income (loss) available to Unitholders $ (1,107,473) $ 152,761 

Basic units and shares outstanding 110,464,000 107,531,000 

Dilutive effect of: 

Unit options 16,000 115,000 

Unit appreciation rights 1,021,000 766,000 

Deferred unit grants 45,000 28,000 

Units outstanding on a diluted basis 111,546,000 108,440,000 

Diluted income (loss) per unit $ (9.93) $ 1.41 
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NOTE 15 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 
Just Energy operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United States. Reporting by geographic region is in 

line with Just Energy’s performance measurement parameters. Both the Canadian and the U.S. operations have gas and electricity 

business segments. 

Just Energy evaluates segment performance based on gross margin. 

The following tables present Just Energy’s results by geographic segment: 

2009 Canada United States Consolidated 

Sales gas $ 814,275 $ 343,889 $ 1,158,164 

Sales electricity 518,388 222,661 741,049 

Sales $ 1,332,663 $ 566,550 $ 1,899,213 

Gross margin $ 231,720 $ 91,096 $ 322,816 

Amortization of gas contracts 710 – 710 

Amortization of electricity contracts 178 2,706 2,884 

Amortization of capital assets 4,660 440 5,100 

Other operating expenses 89,889 55,995 145,884 

Income before the undernoted 136,283 31,955 168,238 

Interest expense 2,479 1,378 3,857 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 872,402 464,574 1,336,976 

Other income (7,574) (30) (7,604) 

Noncontrolling interest (58) – (58) 

Recovery of income tax (1,971) (55,489) (57,460) 

Net loss $ (728,995) $ (378,478) $ (1,107,473) 

Additions to capital assets $ 6,169 $ 176 $ 6,345 

Total goodwill $ 94,576 $ 22,485 $ 117,061 

Total assets $ 368,873 $ 166,882 $ 535,755 

2008 Canada United States Consolidated
 

Sales gas $ 785,788 $ 247,463 $ 1,033,251
 

Sales electricity 544,278 161,161 705,439
 

Sales $ 1,330,066 $ 408,624 $ 1,738,690
 

Gross margin $ 220,247 $ 54,553 $ 274,800
 

Amortization of gas contracts 177 – 177
 

Amortization of electricity contracts 1,284 6,100 7,384
 

Amortization of capital assets 3,647 1,463 5,110
 

Other operating expenses 66,438 52,175 118,613
 

Income (loss) before the undernoted 148,701 (5,185) 143,516
 

Interest expense 2,174 3,172 5,346
 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments (566) 1,397 831
 

Other income (680) (241) (921)
 

Recovery of income tax (3,353) (11,148) (14,501)
 

Net income $ 151,126 $ 1,635 $ 152,761
 

Additions to capital assets $ 7,143 $ 699 $ 7,842
 

Total goodwill $ 94,576 $ 21,570 $ 116,146
 

Total assets $ 520,384 $ 188,731 $ 709,115
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 16 GUARANTEES 
(a) Officers and directors 

Corporate indemnities have been provided by the Fund to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for various 

items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with the Fund and its subsidiaries and/or 

affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. The Fund has purchased directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any 

potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the indemnified person is a 

director or officer of one of the Fund’s subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any potential future payment cannot 

be reasonably estimated. 

(b) Operations 

In the normal course of business, the Fund and/or the Fund’s subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that include 

guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation agreements. 

These guarantees may require the Fund and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by the 

counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions that 

may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is 

estimated to be $77,000. 

NOTE 17 COMMITMENTS 
Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

Longterm 
Master gas & 
Services electricity 

Premises and Agreement contracts 
equipment with with various 

leasing EPCOR suppliers 

2010 $ 5,499 $ 10,111 $ 1,343,509 

2011 4,877 13,233 1,014,596 

2012 4,273 7,861 646,924 

2013 2,937 – 376,666 

2014 2,097 – 154,508 

Thereafter 5,815 – 12,852 

$ 25,498 $ 31,205 $ 3,549,055 

Just Energy is also committed under longterm contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts have various 

expiry dates and renewal options. 

NOTE 18 CONTINGENCIES 
During the prior year, the Citizen’s Utility Board, AARP and Citizen Action/Illinois filed a complaint before the Illinois Commerce 

Commission alleging claims that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in their sale of Just Energy contracts to Illinois 

customers. Just Energy has commenced discussions with the various parties to address and defend the allegations and intends to 

seek a constructive resolution to the matter. 

At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation is not 

determinable; however, an estimated amount has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2009. 

NOTE 19 ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES 
2009 2008 

Changes in: 

Accrued gas accounts payable $ 2,857 $ 5,465 

Unbilled revenues (10,480) (8,085) 

$ (7,623) $ (2,620) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 20 CHANGES IN NONCASH WORKING CAPITAL 
2009 2008 

Accounts receivable $ (17,251) $ (14,887) 

Gas in storage (1,288) 1,609 

Prepaid expenses 381 (134) 

Corporate taxes recoverable 4,447 1,661 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20,131 (694) 

Management incentive program payable (1,142) 981 

Inventory (229) – 

Other 1,132 (415) 

$ 6,181 $ (11,879) 

NOTE 21 COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Certain figures from the comparative financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented to conform 

to the presentation of the current year’s consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 22 SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
On April 22, 2009, Just Energy and Universal Energy Group Ltd. (“UEG”) jointly announced that they have entered into a definitive 

agreement pursuant to which Just Energy will propose to acquire all of the outstanding common shares of UEG. The plan of 

arrangement provides for a share exchange through which each outstanding share of UEG will be exchanged for 0.58 of a share 

of a subsidiary of Just Energy, which will be exchangeable into one Just Energy trust unit at any time at the option of the holder, 

for no additional consideration. The transaction will result in a corresponding adjustment to the conversion feature of UEG’s 

outstanding 6% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (TSX: UEG.DB) in accordance with their terms. 

The transaction is expected to close in early July and is subject to certain conditions including approval of UEG shareholders, compliance 

with the Competition Act, approval of Just Energy’s lenders, and satisfaction of other customary approvals including regulatory, 

stock exchange and court approvals. 

During the prior year, the Attorney General for Illinois filed a complaint against JE Illinois (the “Illinois AG Complaint”). The Illinois 

AG Complaint alleged that independent sales agents used deceptive practices in their sale of Just Energy contracts to Illinois 

customers. On May 12, 2009, a settlement of the action was reached subject to court approval. Under this settlement, JE Illinois will 

comply with several consumer safeguards, many of which JE Illinois has practiced for more than a year. In addition, $1,000 will be 

made available to a limited number of customers in settlement of claims. 
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ENERGY SAVINGS IS NOW JUST ENERGY!

Just Energy’s business involves the sale of natural gas and electricity to residential, small to midsize commercial and small industrial customers
under longterm, irrevocable fixedprice contracts (price protected for electricity). Just Energy offers natural gas in Manitoba, Quebec,
British Columbia, Illinois and Indiana and both gas and electricity in Ontario, Alberta and New York as well as electricity only in Texas. By
securing the price for natural gas or electricity under such contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy’s customers reduce or eliminate
their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy also has environmentally friendly offerings of natural gas
and electricity through its Green Energy Option program.

When Energy Savings was founded in 1997, our name reflected an essential characteristic

of our fixedprice offering. As we grew, a series of local brand identities helped facilitate

entry into newmarkets. While this approach served us well, changes in our industry and our

company have made this an excellent time to reconsider both our corporate identity

and our value proposition. As a result, we are rebranding Energy Savings as Just Energy and

moving forward with a single, consistent and distinctive brand identity across all markets.

As an organization, one of our competitive advantages is our relative size, strength and

stability. The change to a single identity will support future growth by allowing us to more

easily communicate, to all stakeholders, our collective financial strength and the positive

impact we’ve had on consumers across North America.

The rebranding also enables us to clarify our evolving value proposition. Our increasing

level of energy market expertise – combined with a continued commitment to fairness,

integrity and customer service – has taken us beyond savings. Today, our focus is on

providing both residential and commercial consumers with a straightforward, worryfree

way of managing energy costs – one that provides price protection and the ability to

budget more effectively as well as peace of mind. The name Just Energy and our new

positioning statement “Energy Made Easy” embody this philosophy.

Equally as important, our new logo reflects our increased focus on green energy and other

environmentally friendly products and services. We aim to be a leader in this area and

want to convey our commitment.

The first step in our rebranding process was the renaming of Energy Savings Income Fund

to Just Energy Income Fund. The next step is the conversion of our Canadian and U.S.

operating subsidiaries. We expect to be operating as Just Energy in all markets by the

fall of 2009.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
 
Head office 

Just Energy Income Fund 

First Canadian Place, 100 King Street West 

Suite 2630, P.O. Box 355 

Toronto, ON M5X 1E1 

For financial information, contact: 

Beth Summers, C.A. 

Chief Financial Officer 

9057954206 

For further information, contact: 

Rebecca MacDonald 

Executive Chair 

4163672872 

or 

Ken Hartwick, C.A. 

Chief Executive Officer and President 

9057953557 

Auditors 

KPMG LLP, Toronto, ON, Canada 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

Computershare Investor Services Inc. 

100 University Avenue 

Toronto, ON M5J 2Y1 

Shares listed 

Toronto Stock Exchange 

Trading symbol: JE.UN 
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Annual General Meeting 

Thursday, June 25, 2009 

4:00 p.m. 

TSX Broadcast Centre 

130 King Street West, Toronto, ON 
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SELECTION SERVICE STABILITY

IT’S WHAT WE PROVIDE

FORMERLY ENERGY SAVINGS INCOME FUND
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